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This Amendment No. 1 (this “Amendment”) amends and supplements the Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on
February 28, 2022 (together with any subsequent amendments and supplements thereto, the “Schedule TO”), by PJ Cosmos Acquisition Company, Inc. (“Purchaser”), a
Delaware corporation, Murata Electronics North America, Inc., a Texas corporation (“ Parent”), and Murata Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (“Murata”), a Japanese company. The
Schedule TO relates to the offer by Purchaser to purchase all outstanding shares of common stock, par value $0.001 per share (the “Shares”), of Resonant Inc. (“RESN”), a
Delaware corporation, for $4.50 per Share, net to the seller in cash, without interest and less any applicable withholding taxes, upon the terms and subject to the conditions set
forth in the Offer to Purchase, dated February 28, 2022 (together with any amendments and supplements thereto, the “Offer to Purchase”) and the related Letter of Transmittal,
copies of which are attached to the Schedule TO as Exhibits (a)(1)(A) and (a)(1)(B), respectively.
 
Except as otherwise set forth in this Amendment, the information set forth in the Schedule TO remains unchanged and is incorporated herein by reference to the extent relevant
to the items in this Amendment. Capitalized terms used but not defined herein have the meanings ascribed to them in the Schedule TO.
 
Item 11. Additional Information.



 
(a) The disclosure in the Offer to Purchase and Item 11 of the Schedule TO is hereby amended and supplemented by deleting the first three sentences of the second paragraph
under Section 16—“Certain Legal Matters; Regulatory Approvals – Antitrust Compliance” of the Offer to Purchase and replacing it with the following paragraph:
 

“Murata and RESN filed their respective Premerger Notification and Report Forms with the Antitrust Division and the FTC on February 28, 2022. The waiting period
applicable to the purchase of the Shares pursuant to the Offer will expire at 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on March 15, 2022. This period may change if the FTC or the
Antitrust Division, as applicable, grants earlier termination of the waiting period, Parent voluntarily withdraws and refiles its Premerger Notification and Report Form, or
the FTC or the Antitrust Division, as applicable, issues a request for additional information or documentary material prior to that time.”

 
(b) The disclosure in the Offer to Purchase and Item 11 of the Schedule TO is hereby amended and supplemented by adding the following sub-heading and paragraphs at the
end of Section 16—“Certain Legal Matters; Regulatory Approvals” of the Offer to Purchase:
 

“Certain Legal Proceedings Relating to the Tender Offer
 

United States District Court Stockholder Litigation
 

On March 1, 2022, Danny Key, a purported stockholder of RESN, filed a complaint against RESN and each member of the RESN Board in the United States District
Court for the Southern District of New York, captioned Danny Key vs. Resonant, Inc., et al., Case No. 1:22-cv-01708 (the “Key Complaint”). The Key Complaint
alleges that the defendants violated Sections 14(e), 14(d), and 20(a) of the Exchange Act by omitting and/or misrepresenting material information in RESN’s
Schedule 14D-9 (concerning, among other things, the sale process, RESN’s financial projections, and financial valuation analyses provided by RESN’s financial
advisors) in connection with the proposed transaction contemplated by the Offer. The Key Complaint seeks, among other things, an order enjoining consummation of the
transaction; rescission or rescissory damages in the event the transaction is consummated; an order directing the RESN Board to disseminate a revised Schedule 14D-9;
and an award of plaintiff’s costs, including reasonable allowance for attorneys’ fees and experts’ fees.

 
Between March 4, 2022 and March 11, 2022, five additional complaints were filed in federal district court in New York and one additional complaint was filed in federal
district court in Pennsylvania, in each case by purported stockholders of RESN: (i) Miles Weiss vs. Resonant, Inc., et al., Case No. 1:22-cv-01202-FB-PK (E.D.N.Y.)
(the “Weiss Complaint”), (ii) Brian Jones vs. Resonant, Inc., et al., Case No. 1:22-cv-01855 (S.D.N.Y.) (the “Jones Complaint”), (iii) Ken Callen vs. Resonant, Inc., et
al., Case No. 1:22-cv-01903 (S.D.N.Y.) (the “Callen Complaint”), (iv) Thomas Valenti vs. Resonant, Inc., et al., Case No. 1:22-cv-01244 (E.D.N.Y.) (the “Valenti
Complaint”), (v) Benny Ruff vs. Resonant, Inc., et al., Case No. 2:22-cv-00861(E.D. Pa.) (the “Ruff Complaint”), and (vi) Jeffrey D. Justice, II vs. Resonant Inc. et al.,
Case No.  1:22-cv-01353 (E.D.N.Y.) (the “Justice Complaint”). The Weiss Complaint was voluntarily dismissed by the plaintiff on March 11, 2022.

 

 

 

 
Each of the Jones Complaint, the Valenti Complaint, the Ruff Complaint and the Justice Complaint asserts claims under Sections 14(e), 14(d), and 20(a) of the Exchange
Act, and Rule 14d-9 promulgated thereunder, alleging, among other things, that defendants omitted certain material facts related to the transaction from
the Schedule 14D-9 filed by RESN. The Callen Complaint, which asserts claims under Sections 14(e) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, alleges, in addition, that the
disclosure regarding Resonant’s financial projections is false and misleading in view of alleged prior statements by RESN on certain earnings calls. Each of the Jones
Complaint, the Valenti Complaint, the Callen Complaint, the Ruff Complaint and the Justice Complaint seeks, among other things, to enjoin the defendants from
consummating the transaction, rescissory damages should the transaction not be enjoined, and an award of attorneys’ fees and experts’ fees.

 
Parent and Purchaser believe the allegations in each of the foregoing complaints are without merit. Additional lawsuits may be filed against Parent, Purchaser, RESN
and the RESN Board or management in connection with the Merger Agreement and the Schedule 14D-9. Absent new or different allegations that are material, Parent and
Purchaser will not necessarily announce such additional filings.

 
The foregoing descriptions do not purport to be complete. The foregoing summary of the Key Complaint is qualified in its entirety by reference to the Key Complaint, a
copy of which is filed as Exhibit (a)(5)(C) hereto and is hereby incorporated herein by reference. The foregoing summary of each of the Jones Complaint, the Callen
Complaint, the Valenti Complaint, and the Ruff Complaint and the Justice Complaint is qualified in its entirety by reference to those complaints, which are filed as
Exhibit (a)(5)(D), Exhibit (a)(5)(E), Exhibit (a)(5)(F), Exhibit (a)(5)(G) and Exhibit (a)(5)(H) hereto, respectively, and incorporated herein by reference.”

 
Amendment to the Offer to Purchase
 
The first page of the Offer to Purchase (Exhibit (a)(1)(A)) is hereby amended by deleting the “CONFIDENTIAL” header set forth therein.
 
Item 12. Exhibits.
 
Item 12 of the Schedule TO is hereby amended and supplemented by adding the following exhibits:
 
   
Exhibit No.  Description
  
(a)(5)(C)  Complaint captioned Danny Key vs. Resonant Inc. et al., filed March 1, 2022 in the United States District Court Southern District of New York.*
  
(a)(5)(D)  Complaint captioned Brian Jones vs. Resonant Inc. et al., filed March 4, 2022 in the United States District Court Southern District of New York.*  
   
(a)(5)(E)  Complaint captioned Ken Callen vs. Resonant Inc. et al., filed March 6, 2022 in the United States District Court Southern District of New York.*  
   
(a)(5)(F)  Complaint captioned Thomas Valenti vs. Resonant Inc. et al., filed March 7, 2022 in the United States District Court Eastern District of New York.*  
   
(a)(5)(G)

 
Complaint captioned Benny Ruff vs. Resonant Inc. et al., filed March 7, 2022 in the United States District Court for the Eastern District of
Pennsylvania.*  

   
(a)(5)(H)

 
Complaint captioned Jeffrey D. Justice, II vs. Resonant Inc. et al., filed March 11, 2022 in the United States District Court Eastern District of New
York.*  

   
107  Filing Fee Table (incorporated by reference to Schedule TO filed by Murata on February 28, 2022).
 
* Filed herewith.

 

 

https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1446591/000110465922027800/tm226509d5_ex-filingfees.htm
https://www.sec.gov/Archives/edgar/data/1446591/000110465922027800/tm226509d5_ex-filingfees.htm


 

 
SIGNATURES

 
After due inquiry and to the best knowledge and belief of the undersigned, each of the undersigned certifies that the information set forth in this statement is true, complete and
correct.
 
 PJ Cosmos Acquisition Company, Inc.
   
 By: /s/ Masanori Minamide
  Name:  Masanori Minamide
  Title:  President  
  
 Murata Electronics North America, Inc.
   
 By: /s/ David Kirk
  Name:  David Kirk
  Title:  President
     
 Murata Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
     
 By: /s/ Norio Nakajima
  Name:  Norio Nakajima
  Title:  President
 
Date: March 14, 2022
 

 

 



Exhibit (a)(5)(C)
 
Evan J. Smith
BRODSKY & SMITH
240 Mineola Boulevard
First Floor
Mineola, NY 11501
Telephone: 516.741.4977
Facsimile: 516.741.0626
esmith@brodskysmith.com
 
Attorneys for Plaintiff
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
 

SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
 
   
DANNY KEY,  Case No.:
   

Plaintiff,  Complaint For:
   
VS.  (1) Violation of § 14 (e) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
  (2) Violation of § 14 (d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
RESONANT, INC.,  (3) Violation of § 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934
GEORGE B. HOLMES, MICHAEL FOX, RUBEN   
CABALLERO, ALAN B. HOWE, JACK   
H. JACOBS, JOSH JACOBS, JEAN   
RANKIN, and BOB TIRVA,   
   

Defendants.  JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
   

 
Plaintiff, Danny Key ("Plaintiff"), by and through his attorneys, alleges upon information and belief, except for those allegations that pertain to him, which are alleged

upon personal knowledge, as follows:
 

SUMMARY OF THE ACTION
 

1.            Plaintiff brings this stockholder action against Resonant, Inc. ("Resonant, Inc." or
the "Company") and the Company's Board of Directors (the "Board" or the "Individual Defendants," and collectively with the Company, the "Defendants"), for violations of
Sections 14(e), 14 (d), and 20(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of 1934 (the "Exchange Act") as a result of Defendants' efforts to sell the Company to Murata
Manufacturing Co., Ltd.. ("Parent" or "Murata") as a result of an unfair process, and to enjoin an upcoming tender offer on a proposed all cash transaction representing a total
approximate value of $294 million (the "Proposed Transaction").
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2.            The terms of the Proposed Transaction were memorialized in a February 14, 2022, filing with the Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") on Form 8-K

attaching the definitive Agreement and Plan of Merger (the "Merger Agreement"). Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, Murata will acquire all the outstanding shares of
Resonant, Inc. common stock for $4.50 per share in cash. As a result, Resonant, Inc. will become an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of Murata.
 

3.            Thereafter, on February 28, 2022, Resonant filed a Solicitation/Recommendation Statement on Schedule 14D-9 (the "Recommendation Statement") with the
SEC in support of the Proposed Transaction.
 

4.            The Proposed Transaction is unfair for a number of reasons. Significantly, the Recommendation Statement describes an insufficient process with only one
goal in mind — to sell the Company to Murata.
 

5.            Next, it appears as though the Board has entered into the Proposed Transaction to procure for itself and senior management of the Company significant and
immediate benefits with no thought to Plaintiff as a public stockholder. For instance, pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, upon the consummation of the Proposed
Transaction, Company Board Members and executive officers will be able to exchange all Company equity awards for the merger consideration.
 

6.            In violation of the Exchange Act, Defendants caused to be filed the materially deficient Recommendation Statement on February 28, 2022, with the SEC in
an effort to solicit stockholders, including Plaintiff, to tender their Resonant shares in favor of the Proposed Transaction. The Recommendation Statement is materially deficient,
deprives Plaintiff of the information necessary to make an intelligent, informed and rational decision of whether to tender in favor of the Proposed Transaction, and is thus in
violation of the Exchange Act. As detailed below, the Recommendation Statement omits and/or misrepresents material information concerning, among other things: (a) the sales
process and in particular certain conflicts of interest for management; (b) the financial projections for Resonant, provided by Resonant to the Company's financial advisors
Centerview Partners LLC ("Centerview") and Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated ("Stifel"); and (c) the data and inputs underlying the financial valuation analyses, if
any, that purport to support the fairness opinions created by Counterview and/or Stifel and provided to the Company and the Board.
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7. Accordingly, this action seeks to enjoin the Proposed Transaction.

 
8. Absent judicial intervention, the Proposed Transaction will be consummated, resulting in irreparable injury to Plaintiff. This action seeks to enjoin the Proposed

Transaction.
 

PARTIES
 



9.            Plaintiff is a citizen of Kentucky and, at all times relevant hereto, has been a Resonant, Inc. stockholder.
 

10.          Defendant Resonant, Inc. is a leader in email security, productivity, and compliance. Resonant, Inc. is incorporated in Delaware and has its principal place of
business at 10900 Stonelake Blvd, Suite 100, Office 02-130 Austin, Texas. Shares of Resonant, Inc. common stock are traded on the Nasdaq Stock Exchange under the symbol
"RESN."
 

11.          Defendant George B. Holmes ("Holmes") has been a Director of the Company at all relevant times. In addition, Holmes serves as the Company's Chief
Executive Officer ("CEO") and Chairman of the Board.
 

12.          Defendant Michael Fox ("Fox") has been a director of the Company at all relevant times.
 

13.          Defendant Ruben Caballero ("Caballero") has been a director of the Company at all relevant times.
 

14.          Defendant Alan B. Howe ("Howe") has been a director of the Company at all relevant times.
 

15.          Defendant Jack H. Jacobs ("J.H. Jacobs") has been a director of the Company at all relevant times.
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16.            Defendant Josh Jacobs ("J. Jacobs") has been a director of the Company at all relevant times.

 
17.            Defendant Jean Rankin ("Rankin") has been a director of the Company at all relevant times.

 
18.            Defendant Bob Tirva ("Tirva") has been a director of the Company at all relevant times.

 
19.            Defendants identified in ¶¶ 11 - 18 are collectively referred to as the "Individual Defendants."

 
20.          Non-Party Murata designs, manufactures, and sells electronic components and related products in Japan and internationally. The company was founded in

1944 and is headquartered in Nagaokakyo, Japan.
 

21.            Non-Party Merger Sub is a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata created to effectuate the Proposed Transaction.
 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
 

22.            This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question
jurisdiction) as Plaintiff alleges violations of Sections 14(e), 14 (d), and 20(a) of the Exchange Act. This action is not a collusive one to confer jurisdiction on a court of the
United States, which it would not otherwise have. The Court has supplemental jurisdiction over any claims arising under state law pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1367.
 

23.            Personal jurisdiction exists over each defendant either because the defendant conducts business in or maintains operations in this District, or is an individual
who is either present in this District for jurisdictional purposes or has sufficient minimum contacts with this District as to render the exercise of jurisdiction over defendant by
this Court permissible under traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.
 

24.            Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391, because each of the Individual Defendants, as Company officers or directors, has extensive
contacts within this District; for example, the Company's stock trades on the Nasdaq Stock Exchange which is headquartered in this District.
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SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

 
Company Background
 

25.            Resonant Inc., a late-stage development company, designs and develops filters for radio frequency (RF) and front-ends used in the mobile device,
automotive, medical, internet-of-things, and related industries in Japan, China, and internationally. It uses Infinite Synthesized Networks technology, a software platform to
configure and connect resonators that are building blocks of RF filters. The company develops a series of single-band designs for frequency bands; and multiplexer filter
designs for two or more bands to address the carrier aggregation requirements; and XBAR, a technology for mobile and non-mobile applications, including 5G, WiFi, and Ultra-
WideBand applications. Resonant Inc. was incorporated in 2012 and is headquartered in Austin, Texas.
 

26.            The Company's most recent financial performance press release, revealing financial results from the quarter preceding the announcement of the Proposed
Transaction, indicated impressive financial success. For example, in the August 5, 2021 press release announcing its 2021 Q3 financial results, the Company reported
milestones such as Deferred revenues totaled $4.4 million at the end of the third quarter of 2021, a sequential increase of 550% as well as an expansion of a multi-year
commercial partnership with the Company's strategic partner.
 

27.            Speaking on the results, CEO Defendant Holmes said, "We continued to execute on our operational strategy in the third quarter, most notably highlighted by
the recent expansion of our agreement with our strategic partner, the world's largest RF filter manufacturer,".... "The extended agreement is a testament to the superiority of our
XBAR® technology in meeting the exacting demands required by next generation wireless networks, and a critical advancement towards the high-volume manufacturing of
XBAR® RF filters."'
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28.            The promise and financial results are not an anomaly, but rather, are indicative of a trend of continued future potential success by Resonant, Inc.. Clearly,

based upon the positive outlook, the Company is likely to have tremendous future success.
 

29.            Despite this upward trajectory, the Individual Defendants have caused Resonant, Inc. to enter into the Proposed Transaction without providing requisite



information to Resonant, Inc. stockholders such as Plaintiff.
 
The Flawed Sales Process
 

30.            As detailed in the Recommendation Statement, the process deployed by the Individual Defendants was flawed and inadequate, was conducted out of the self-
interest of the Individual Defendants and was designed with only one concern in mind – to effectuate a sale of the Company by any means possible.
 

31.            Notably, the Recommendation Statement fails to indicate whether the so-called Special Committee of the Board, or its successor, the Strategic Advisory
Committee of the Board, were composed solely of independent and disinterested directors.
 

32.            Next, the Recommendation Statement indicates that while a so-called "Special Committee" of the Board, or its successor, the "Strategic Advisory
Committee" of the Board was created to run the sales process, said committee was composed in part of Directors who are clearly not independent or disinterested – for example
Defendant Holmes who is the Company CEO. The Recommendation Statement fails to indicate why this committee was not populated solely with Board members who were
disinterested and independent.
 

33.            The Recommendation Statement also fails to contain adequate information as to why the Board engaged multiple financial advisors during the sales process.
Notably, the Recommendation Statement reveals that the Board engaged Stifel as a financial advisor during the sales process, but the Recommendation Statement fails to
provide any fairness opinion or other analyses, if any, which were created by Stifel and provided to the Board in this capacity.
 

34.            In addition, the Recommendation Statement is silent as to the nature of the confidentiality agreements entered into between the Company and potentially
interested third parties, including Murata, throughout the sales process, if any, and whether these agreements differ from each other, and if so in what way. The
Recommendation Statement also fails to disclose all specific conditions under which any standstill provision contained in any entered confidentiality agreement entered into
between the Company and any potentially interested third parties, including Murata, throughout the sales process, if any, would fall away.
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35.            It is not surprising, given this background to the overall sales process, that it was conducted in a completely inappropriate and misleading manner.

 
The Proposed Transaction
 

36.            On November 8, 2021, Resonant, Inc. issued a joint press release announcing the Proposed Transaction. The press release stated, in relevant part:
 

KYOTO and AUSTIN, Texas, Feb. 14, 2022 (GLOBE NEWSWIRE) -- Murata Electronics North America, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata
Manufacturing Co., Ltd., and Resonant Inc. (Resonant) (NASDAQ: RESN) today announced that they have entered into a definitive agreement under which
Murata will acquire all outstanding shares of Resonant not owned by Murata for $4.50 per share in cash. Resonant is a leader in transforming the way radio
frequency (RF) front-ends are being designed and delivered for mobile handset and wireless devices. The combination will allow both companies to expand
their offerings and to access additional markets and customers. Resonant will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata and continue with its innovative
development designed to solve some of the world's toughest RF challenges.

 
"This acquisition will combine Murata's world-leading mobile RF product capabilities with Resonant's best-in-class XBAR filter solutions and world-class team
of talented engineers," said Norio Nakajima, President of Murata. "Resonant invented its proprietary XBAR technology, which is expected to achieve higher
frequency and superior performance to other filter technologies. We have collaborated closely with Resonant for many years on the development of proprietary
circuit designs using Resonant's XBAR technology, and Resonant licensed to Murata rights for products in multiple specific radio frequencies in connection
with our commercial partnership. We are confident Resonant's innovation is a key strategic differentiator for the mobile industry. This transaction will deepen
our existing partnership and position us to better meet our customers' needs and expand opportunities for Murata."

 
"Murata is a global leader in RF modules and filters, and we are excited to build upon the successful partnership we've had together. The combination of
Murata's leading products with Resonant's leading edge XBAR filter technologies will advance our combined ability to deliver best-in-class products to the RF
front-end market," said George B. Holmes, Chairman and CEO of Resonant. "As part of the Murata team, we are looking forward to accelerating the integration
of our XBAR technology into the Murata RF roadmap and delivering solutions with optimum RF performance. We have tremendous respect for Murata and
look forward to accomplishing great things together."
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“We believe this acquisition will enhance Murata's advanced RF front-end capabilities and the world's best filtering technology in the 3-9GHz frequency range,
key areas for the growing integration of mobile technologies. The radio requirements of smartphones and other wireless devices continue to grow more
complex. XBAR filter technology delivers the ability to solve the complexities created by these next generation network requirements. Murata and Resonant
will provide a strong portfolio of Intellectual Property Rights covering the entire XBAR technology,” concluded Nakajima.

 
The transaction, which has been approved by both companies' boards of directors, is expected to close by the end of March 2022, subject to the tender of a
majority of Resonant's shares, certain regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions.

 
Potential Conflicts of Interest
 

37.            The breakdown of the benefits of the deal indicates that Resonant insiders are the primary beneficiaries of the Proposed Transaction, not the Company's
public stockholders such as Plaintiff. The Board and the Company's executive officers are conflicted because they will have secured unique benefits for themselves from the
Proposed Transaction not available to Plaintiff as a public stockholder of Resonant.
 

38.            Notably, Company insiders, currently own large, illiquid portions of Company stock that will be exchanged for the merger consideration upon the
consummation of the Proposed Transaction as follows:
 

  
Number of

Shares Owned   
Value of 

Shares Owned  
Executive Officers:         

George B. Holmes
  527,436  $ 2,373,462.00 

Martin S. McDermut(1)   271,825   1,223,212.50 



Dylan Kelly   174,197   783,886.50 
Neal Fenzi   584,730   2,631,285.00 
Clint Brown(2)   118,750   534,375.00 
Lisa Wolf(3)   170,608   767,736.00 
Non-Employee Directors:       
Ruben Caballero   154,462   695,079.00 
Michael J. Fox(4)   2,121,168   9,545,256.00 
Alan B. Howe   69,184   311,328.00 
Jack H. Jacobs   64,184   288,828.00 
Joshua Jacobs   67,684   304,578.00 
Jean F. Rankin   73,512   330,804.00 
Robert Tirva   64,184   288,828.00 
Total   4,461,924  $ 20,078,658.00 
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39.            Moreover, upon the consummation of the Proposed Transaction, the Recommendation Statement indicates that each outstanding Company stock option,

restricted share, or other equity award will be canceled and converted into the right to receive certain consideration according to the merger agreement as follows:
 
 

Vested Stock Options    

Name  

Number of
Shares

Underlying
Options   

Exercise 
Price 
Per 

Share   

Option
Assumed or
Cancelled at

Effective
Time  

Amount of 
Option 

Consideration  
Executive Officers (Grant Date):               
George B. Holmes               
(August 7, 2017)   5,824  $ 4.51  Cancelled   — 
(November 6, 2017)   7,663  $ 4.62  Cancelled   — 
Total   13,487           
Martin S. McDermut               
(May 28, 2014)   12,000  $ 6.00  Cancelled   — 
Total               
Neal Fenzi               
(February 5, 2016)   30,000  $ 1.95  Assumed  $ 76,500 
(February 2, 2017)   25,146  $ 4.36  Assumed  $ 3,520 
(August 7, 2017)   5,133  $ 4.51  Cancelled   — 
(November 6, 2017)   4,752  $ 4.62  Cancelled   — 
Total   65,031           
Lisa Wolf               
(June 30, 2014)   5,000  $ 7.20  Cancelled   — 
(August 8, 2016)   25,000  $ 5.06  Cancelled   — 
(February 2, 2017)   15,319  $ 4.36  Assumed  $ 2,145 
(August 7, 2017)   6,688  $ 4.51  Cancelled   — 
(November 6, 2017)   4,808  $ 4.62  Cancelled   — 
Total   56,815           
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Name  

Number of Shares 
Underlying RSUs 

(Time-Based 
Vesting)   

Amount of RSU
Consideration($)  

Executive Officers:         
George B. Holmes   431,101   1,939,954.50 
Martin S. McDermut   143,233   644,548.50 
Dylan Kelly   302,759   1,362,415.50 
Clint Brown   188,024   846,108.00 
Neal Fenzi   119,367   537,151.50 
Lisa Wolf   135,539   609,925.50 
Non-Employee Directors:         
Ruben Caballero   106,553   479,488.50 
Michael J. Fox   108,334   487,503.00 
Alan B. Howe   57,499   258,745.50 

Jack H. Jacobs
  57,499   258,745.50 

Joshua Jacobs   57,499   258,745.50 
Jean F. Rankin   67,499   303,745.50 
Robert Tirva   67,499   303,745.50 
 

Name  

Number of Shares 
Underlying RSUs 

(Performance-Based 
Vesting)   

Amount of RSU
Consideration($)  

George B. Holmes   500,000   — 



Dylan Kelly   200,000   — 
 

40.            In addition, certain employment agreements with certain Resonant executives, entitle such executives to severance packages should their employment be
terminated under certain circumstances. These `golden parachute' packages are significant and will grant each director or officer entitled to them millions of dollars,
compensation not shared by Plaintiff as follows:
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Golden Parachute Compensation
 

  Cash   Equity   
Perquisites/

Benefits   
Tax

Reimbursement   Other   Total Payout  
Name  ($)(1)   ($)(2)   ($)(3)   ($)   ($)(4)   ($)  
George B. Holmes   1,062,500   1,939,955   50,151   —   5,000   3,057,606 
Martin S. McDermut   733,918   644,549   40,859   —   5,000   1,424,326 
Dylan Kelly   696,300   1,362,416   21,115   —   5,000   2,084,831 
 

41.            The Recommendation Statement also fails to adequately disclose communications regarding post-transaction employment during the negotiation of the
underlying transaction must be disclosed to stockholders. Communications regarding post-transaction employment during the negotiation of the underlying transaction must be
disclosed to stockholders. This information is necessary for Plaintiff to understand potential conflicts of interest of management and the Board, as that information provides
illumination concerning motivations that would prevent fiduciaries from acting solely in the best interests of the Company's stockholders.
 

42.            Thus, while the Proposed Transaction is not in the best interests of Resonant, Plaintiff or Company stockholders, it will produce lucrative benefits for the
Company's officers and directors.
 
The Materially Misleading and/or Incomplete Recommendation Statement
 

43.            On February 28, 2022, the Resonant Board caused to be filed with the SEC a materially misleading and incomplete Recommendation Statement, that in
violation the Exchange Act, failed to provide Plaintiff in his capacity as a Company stockholder with material information and/or provides materially misleading information
critical to the total mix of information available to Plaintiff concerning the financial and procedural fairness of the Proposed Transaction.
 

Omissions and/or Material Misrepresentations Concerning the Sales Process leading up to the Proposed Transaction
 

44.            Specifically, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose material information concerning the process conducted by the Company and the events leading
up to the Proposed Transaction. In particular, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose:

 
a. The specific reasoning as to why the Strategic Advisory Committee or its predecessor created by the Board to run the sales process contained Board

members who were not disinterested or independent
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b. Adequate reasoning as to why no it was necessary to engage multiple financial advisors;

 
c. Whether the terms of any confidentiality agreements entered during the sales process between Resonant on the one hand, and any other third party

(including Murata), if any, on the other hand, differed from one another, and if so, in what way;
 

d. All specific conditions under which any standstill provision contained in any entered confidentiality agreement entered into between the Company and
potentially interested third parties (including Murata) throughout the sales process, if any, would fall away; and

 
e. The Recommendation Statement also fails to adequately disclose communications regarding post-transaction employment during the negotiation of the

underlying transaction must be disclosed to stockholders. Communications regarding post-transaction employment during the negotiation of the underlying
transaction must be disclosed to stockholders. This information is necessary for stockholders to understand potential conflicts of interest of management
and the Board, as that information provides illumination concerning motivations that would prevent fiduciaries from acting solely in the best interests of
the Company's stockholders

 
Omissions and/or Material Misrepresentations Concerning Resonant's Financial Projections

 
45.            The Recommendation Statement fails to provide material information concerning financial projections for Resonant provided by Resonant management and

relied upon by Centerview in its analyses. The Recommendation Statement discloses management-prepared financial projections for the Company which are materially
misleading.
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46.            Notably, in connection with its fairness opinion rendered to the Company Board regarding the Proposed Transaction, Centerview notes that it reviewed,

"certain internal information relating to the business, operations, earnings, cash flow, assets, liabilities and prospects of the Company, including the Case One Projections and
Case Two Projections."
 

47.            The Recommendation Statement, therefore, should have, but fails to provide, certain information in the projections that Resonant management provided to
the Board and Centerview. Courts have uniformly stated that "projections ... are probably among the most highly-prized disclosures by investors. Investors can come up with
their own estimates of discount rates or [] market multiples. What they cannot hope to do is replicate management's inside view of the company's prospects." In re Netsmart
Techs., Inc. S'holders Litig., 924 A.2d 171, 201-203 (Del. Ch. 2007).
 



48.            With regard to Case One Projections for Resonant prepared by Resonant management, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose material line items
for the following metrics:
 

a. Adjusted EBITDA, including all underlying necessary inputs and assumptions, including specifically: net income, and the specific adjustments made for
depreciation, amortization, net interest income, income tax expense and non-cash equity compensation expense;

 
b. Unlevered Free Cash Flows, including all underlying necessary inputs and assumptions used to calculate this metric.

 
49.            With regard to Case Two Projections for Resonant prepared by Resonant management, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose material line items

for the following metrics:
 

a. Adjusted EBITDA, including all underlying necessary inputs and assumptions, including specifically: net income, and the specific adjustments made for
depreciation, amortization, net interest income, income tax expense and non-cash equity compensation expense; and
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b. Unlevered Free Cash Flows, including all underlying necessary inputs and assumptions used to calculate this metric.

 
50.            The Recommendation Statement also fails to disclose a reconciliation of all non-GAAP to GAAP metrics utilized in the projections.

 
51.            This information is necessary to provide Plaintiff in his capacity as a Company stockholder a complete and accurate picture of the sales process and its

fairness. Without this information, Plaintiff is not fully informed as to Defendants' actions, including those that may have been taken in bad faith, and cannot fairly assess the
process.
 

52.            Without accurate projection data presented in the Recommendation Statement, Plaintiff is unable to properly evaluate the Company's true worth, the
accuracy of Centerview's financial analyses, or make an informed decision whether to tender his shares in favor of the Proposed Transaction. As such, the Board is in violation
of the Exchange Act by failing to include such information in the Recommendation Statement.
 

Omissions and/or Material Misrepresentations Concerning the Financial Analyses by Centerview
 

53.            In the Recommendation Statement, Centerview describes its fairness opinion and the various valuation analyses performed to render such opinion. However,
the descriptions fail to include necessary underlying data, support for conclusions, or the existence of, or basis for, underlying assumptions. Without this information, one
cannot replicate the analyses, confirm the valuations or evaluate the fairness opinions.
 

54.            With respect to the Selected Public Company Analysis, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose the following:
 

a. The specific inputs and assumptions used to determine the utilized reference range of 2023/EV Revenue Trading Multiples of 5.0x to 8.5x;
 

b. The Company's estimated net cash as of December 31, 2021; and
 

c. The number of fully diluted outstanding Shares of Company stock as of February 11, 2022.
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55.            With respect to the Discounted Cash Flow Analysis, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose the following:

 
a. The specific inputs and assumptions used to determine the utilized discount rate range of 14.50% to 16.00%;

 
b. Resonant's weighted average cost of capital utilizes;

 
c. The specific terminal values for the Company calculated based off the Case One Projections;

 
d. The specific terminal values for the Company calculated based off the Case Two Projections

 
e. The specific inputs and assumptions used to determine the utilized perpetuity growth rate range 2.0% to 3.0%;

 
f. The specific tax savings from usage of the Company's federal net operating losses as of December 31, 2021 utilized;

 
g. The Company's estimated future losses utilized; and

 
h. The number of fully diluted outstanding Shares of Company stock as of February 11, 2022

 
56.            With respect to the Analyst Price Target Analysis, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose the following:

 
a. The specific price targets utilized; and

 
b. The specific identity of the financial firms who generated the utilized price targets.

 
57.            With respect to the Premiums Paid Analysis, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose the following:

 
a. The specific inputs and assumptions used to determine the utilized reference range of 31.6% to 78.4% to the Company's closing stock price on February 11,

2022.
 

58.            These disclosures are critical for Plaintiff to be able to make an informed decision on whether to tender his shares in favor of the Proposed Transaction.
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59.            Without the omitted information identified above, Plaintiff is missing critical information necessary to evaluate whether the proposed consideration truly

maximizes his value and serves his interest as a stockholder. Moreover, without the key financial information and related disclosures, Plaintiff cannot gauge the reliability of the
fairness opinion and the Board's determination that the Proposed Transaction is in his best interests as a public Resonant stockholder. As such, the Board has violated the
Exchange Act by failing to include such information in the Recommendation Statement.
 

FIRST COUNT
 

Violations of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act
 

(Against All Defendants)
 

60.            Plaintiff repeats all previous allegations as if set forth in full herein.
 

61.            Defendants have disseminated the Recommendation Statement with the intention of soliciting stockholders, including Plaintiff, to tender their shares in favor
of the Proposed Transaction.
 

62.            Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act provides that in the solicitation of shares in a tender offer, "[i]t shall be unlawful for any person to make any untrue
statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not
misleading[.].
 

63.            The Recommendation Statement was prepared in violation of Section 14(e) because it is materially misleading in numerous respects and omits material
facts, including those set forth above. Moreover, in the exercise of reasonable care, Defendants knew or should have known that the Recommendation Statement is materially
misleading and omits material facts that are necessary to render them non-misleading.
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64.            The Individual Defendants had actual knowledge or should have known of the misrepresentations and omissions of material facts set forth herein.

 
65.            The Individual Defendants were at least negligent in filing a Recommendation Statement that was materially misleading and/or omitted material facts

necessary to make the Recommendation Statement not misleading.
 

66.            The misrepresentations and omissions in the Recommendation Statement are material to Plaintiff, and Plaintiff will be deprived of his entitlement to decide
whether to tender its shares on the basis of complete information if such misrepresentations and omissions are not corrected prior to the expiration of the tender offer period
regarding the Proposed Transaction.
 

67.            Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law.
 

SECOND COUNT
 

Violations of Section 14(d)(4) of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 14d-9
 

(Against all Individual Defendants)
 

68.            Plaintiff repeats and realleges all previous allegations as if set forth in full herein.
 

69.            Defendants have disseminated the Recommendation Statement with the intention of soliciting stockholders, including Plaintiff, to tender their shares in favor
of the Proposed Transaction.
 

70.            Section 14(d)(4) requires Defendants to make full and complete disclosure in connection with a tender offer.
 

71.            SEC Rule 14d-9 requires a Company's directors to, furnish such additional information, if any, as may be necessary to make the required statements, in light
of the circumstances under which they are made, not materially misleading.
 

72.            Here, the Recommendation Statement violates both Section 14(d)(4) and SEC Rule 14d-9 because it because it is materially misleading in numerous
respects, omits material facts, including those set forth above and Defendants knowingly or recklessly omitted the material facts from the Recommendation Statement.
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73.            The misrepresentations and omissions in the Recommendation Statement are material to Plaintiff, and Plaintiff will be deprived of his entitlement to decide

whether to tender his shares on the basis of complete information if such misrepresentations and omissions are not corrected prior to the expiration of the tender offer period
regarding the Proposed Transaction.
 

74.            Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law.
 

THIRD COUNT
 

Violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act
 

(Against all Individual Defendants)
 

75.            Plaintiff repeats all previous allegations as if set forth in full herein.
 

76.            The Individual Defendants were privy to non-public information concerning the Company and its business and operations via access to internal corporate
documents, conversations and connections with other corporate officers and employees, attendance at management and Board meetings and committees thereof and via reports



and other information provided to them in connection therewith. Because of their possession of such information, the Individual Defendants knew or should have known that
the Recommendation Statement was materially misleading to Plaintiff in his capacity as a Company stockholder.
 

77.            The Individual Defendants were involved in drafting, producing, reviewing and/or disseminating the materially false and misleading statements complained
of herein. The Individual Defendants were aware or should have been aware that materially false and misleading statements were being issued by the Company in the
Recommendation Statement and nevertheless approved, ratified and/or failed to correct those statements, in violation of federal securities laws. The Individual Defendants were
able to, and did, control the contents of the Recommendation Statement. The Individual Defendants were provided with copies of, reviewed and approved, and/or signed the
Recommendation Statement before its issuance and had the ability or opportunity to prevent its issuance or to cause it to be corrected.
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78.            The Individual Defendants also were able to, and did, directly or indirectly, control the conduct of Resonant, Inc.'s business, the information contained in its

filings with the SEC, and its public statements. Because of their positions and access to material non-public information available to them but not the public, the Individual
Defendants knew or should have known that the misrepresentations specified herein had not been properly disclosed to and were being concealed from Plaintiff and Company,
and that the Recommendation Statement was misleading. As a result, the Individual Defendants are responsible for the accuracy of the Recommendation Statement and are
therefore responsible and liable for the misrepresentations contained herein.
 

79.            The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of Resonant, Inc. within the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. By reason of their
position with the Company, the Individual Defendants had the power and authority to cause Resonant, Inc. to engage in the wrongful conduct complained of herein. The
Individual Defendants controlled Resonant, Inc. and all of its employees. As alleged above, Resonant, Inc. is a primary violator of Section 14 of the Exchange Act and SEC
Rule 14a-9. By reason of their conduct, the Individual Defendants are liable pursuant to section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.
 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands injunctive relief, in his favor and against the Defendants, as follows:
 

A.            Enjoining the Proposed Transaction;
 

B.            In the event Defendants consummate the Proposed Transaction, rescinding it and setting it aside or awarding rescissory damages to Plaintiff;
 

C.            Directing the Individual Defendants to exercise their fiduciary duties to disseminate a Recommendation Statement that does not contain any untrue
statements of material fact and that states all material facts required in it or necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading;
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D.            Awarding Plaintiff the costs of this action, including reasonable allowance for Plaintiff's attorneys' and experts' fees; and

 
E.            Granting such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

 
DEMAND FOR JURY TRIAL

 
Plaintiff hereby demands a jury on all issues which can be heard by a jury.

 
Dated: March 1, 2022 BRODSKY & SMITH
  

By: /s/ Evan J. Smith
  Evan J. Smith
  240 Mineola Boulevard
  Mineola, NY 11501
    Phone: (516) 741-4977
  Facsimile (561) 741-0626
   
  Counsel for Plaintiff
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Exhibit (a)(5)(D)

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

 
BRIAN JONES,  
  

Plaintiff, Civil Action No. ___________
  

v.  
  
RESONANT INC., GEORGE B. HOLMES, RUBÉN CABALLERO, MICHAEL J.
FOX, ALAN B. HOWE, JACK H. JACOBS, JOSHUA JACOBS, JEAN F. RANKIN,
and ROBERT TIRVA,

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE
ACT OF 1934

  
Defendants, JURY TRIAL DEMAND

 
Plaintiff Brian Jones (“Plaintiff”) alleges the following upon information and belief, including investigation of counsel and review of publicly available information,

except as to those allegations pertaining to Plaintiff, which are alleged upon personal knowledge:
 

NATURE OF THE ACTION
 

1.Plaintiff brings this action against Resonant Inc. (“Resonant” or the “Company”) and Resonant’s Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Individual
Defendants”) for their violations of Sections 14(d)(4), 14(e) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, 15.U.S.C. §§   78n(a), 78n(d)(4), 78n(e), 78t(a), and SEC Rule
14d-9, 17 C.F.R. § 240.14d-9, arising out of the Board’s attempt to sell the Company to Murata Manufacturing Co., Ltd. through its wholly-owned subsidiaries Murata
Electronics North America, Inc. and PJ Cosmos Acquisition Company, Inc. (collectively “Murata”).
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2.Defendants have violated the above-referenced Sections of the Exchange Act by causing a materially incomplete and misleading solicitation statement (the

“14D-9”) to be filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) on February 28, 2022. The 14D-9 recommends that Resonant stockholders tender their shares in
favor of a proposed transaction (the “Proposed Transaction”) whereby Resonant is acquired by Murata. The Proposed Transaction was first disclosed on February 14, 2022,
when Resonant and Murata announced that they had entered into a definitive merger agreement (the “Merger Agreement”) pursuant to which Murata will acquire all of the
outstanding shares of common stock of Resonant for $4.50 per share (the “Merger Consideration”). The deal is expected to close by the end of March 2022.

 
3.The 14D-9 is materially incomplete and contains misleading representations and information in violation of Sections 14(e) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act.

Specifically, the 14D-9 contains materially incomplete and misleading information concerning the financial projections prepared by Resonant management, as well as the
financial analyses conducted by Centerview Partners LLC (“Centerview”), Resonant’s financial advisor.

 
4.For these reasons, and as set forth in detail herein, Plaintiff seeks to enjoin Defendants from taking any steps to consummate the Proposed Transaction,

including filing any amendment to the 14D-9, unless and until the material information discussed below is included in any such amendment or otherwise disseminated to
Resonant’s stockholders. In the event the Proposed Transaction is consummated without the material omissions referenced below being remedied, Plaintiff seeks to recover
damages resulting from the Defendants’ violations.
 

PARTIES
 

5.            Plaintiff is, and has been at all relevant times, the owner of shares of common stock of Resonant.
 

6.Defendant Resonant is a corporation organized and existing under the laws of the State of Delaware. The Company’s principal executive offices are located at
10900 Stonelake Blvd, Suite 100, Office 02-130, Austin, Texas 78759. Resonant common stock trades on NASDAQ under the ticker symbol “RESN.”
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7.            Defendant George B. Holmes has been a director of the Company since 2016. Defendant Holmes became CEO in 2017 and Chairman of the Board in 2019.
 
8.            Defendant Rubén Caballero has been a director of the Company since 2019.

 
9.            Defendant Michael J. Fox has been a director of the Company since 2016. Defendant Fox serves as Lead Independent Director.
 
10.          Defendant Alan B. Howe has been a director of the Company since 2018.

 
11.          Defendant Jack H. Jacobs has been a director of the Company since 2018.

 
12.          Defendant Joshua Jacobs has been a director of the Company since 2018.

 
13.          Defendant Jean F. Rankin has been a director of the Company since 2017.

 
14.          Defendant Robert Tirva has been a director of the Company since 2018.

 
15.          Defendants Holmes, Caballero, Fox, Howe, Jack Jacobs, Joshua Jacobs, Rankin, and Tirva are collectively referred to herein as the “Board.”

 
16.          Nonparty Murata Manufacturing Co., Ltd. is a Japanese corporation headquartered in Kyoto, Japan.
 
17.          Nonparty Murata Electronics North America, Inc. is a Texas corporation and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata Manufacturing Co., Ltd.
 
18.          Nonparty PJ Cosmos Acquisition Company, Inc. is a Delaware corporation and is a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata Electronics North America, Inc.



 
JURISDICTION AND VENUE

 
19.This Court has subject matter jurisdiction pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa) and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question jurisdiction)

as Plaintiff alleges violations of Section 14(e) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act.
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20.Personal jurisdiction exists over each Defendant either because the Defendant conducts business in or maintains operations in this District, or is an individual

who is either present in this District for jurisdictional purposes or has sufficient minimum contacts with this District as to render the exercise of jurisdiction over Defendant by
this Court permissible under traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.

 
21.          Venue is proper in this District under Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa, as well as under 28 U.S.C. § 1391, because a significant amount of the

conduct at issue took place and had an effect in this District.
 

FURTHER SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS
 

A. Background of the Company and the Proposed Transaction
 

22.Resonant provides a platform to customers in the mobile device, medical, automotive, and internet-of-things industries that allows them to design filters for
radio frequency front-ends (“RFFE”). RFFE filters keep out unwanted radio frequency signals, but they are complex to create given the increasing number of frequency bands
in RFFE enabled devices. Resonant’s platform is designed to assist customers with creating complex filters in an efficient and cost-effective way.
 

23.On February 14, 2022, the Company entered into the Merger Agreement with Murata. According to the press release issued that day announcing the Proposed
Transaction:
 

Murata to acquire Resonant for $4.50 per share in cash
 

Acquisition enhances Murata’s position as a leading global provider of RF system solutions and filter products
 

KYOTO and AUSTIN, TX, February 14, 2022 – Murata Electronics North America, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata Manufacturing Co., Ltd., and
Resonant Inc. (Resonant) (NASDAQ: RESN) today announced that they have entered into a definitive agreement under which Murata will acquire all
outstanding shares of Resonant not owned by Murata for $4.50 per share in cash. Resonant is a leader in transforming the way radio frequency (RF) front-ends
are being designed and delivered for mobile handset and wireless devices. The combination will allow both companies to expand their offerings and to access
additional markets and customers. Resonant will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata and continue with its innovative development designed to solve
some of the world’s toughest RF challenges.
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“This acquisition will combine Murata’s world-leading mobile RF product capabilities with Resonant’s best-in-class XBAR filter solutions and world-class
team of talented engineers,” said Norio Nakajima, President of Murata. “Resonant invented its proprietary XBAR technology, which is expected to achieve
higher frequency and superior performance to other filter technologies. We have collaborated closely with Resonant for many years on the development of
proprietary circuit designs using Resonant’s XBAR technology, and Resonant licensed to Murata rights for products in multiple specific radio frequencies in
connection with our commercial partnership. We are confident Resonant’s innovation is a key strategic differentiator for the mobile industry. This transaction
will deepen our existing partnership and position us to better meet our customers’ needs and expand opportunities for Murata.”

 
“Murata is a global leader in RF modules and filters, and we are excited to build upon the successful partnership we’ve had together. The combination of
Murata’s leading products with Resonant’s leading edge XBAR filter technologies will advance our combined ability to deliver best-in- class products to the
RF front- end market,” said George B. Holmes, Chairman and CEO of Resonant. “As part of the Murata team, we are looking forward to accelerating the
integration of our XBAR technology into the Murata RF roadmap and delivering solutions with optimum RF performance. We have tremendous respect for
Murata and look forward to accomplishing great things together.”

 
“We believe this acquisition will enhance Murata’s advanced RF front-end capabilities and the world’s best filtering technology in the 3~9GHz frequency
range, key areas for the growing integration of mobile technologies. The radio requirements of smartphones and other wireless devices continue to grow more
complex. XBAR filter technology delivers the ability to solve the complexities created by these next generation network requirements. Murata and Resonant
will provide a strong portfolio of Intellectual Property Rights covering the entire XBAR technology,” concluded Nakajima.

 
The transaction, which has been approved by both companies’ boards of directors, is expected to close by the end of March 2022, subject to the tender of a
majority of Resonant’s shares, certain regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions.
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B. The Materially Incomplete and Misleading 14D-9
 

24.On February 28, 2022, Defendants filed the 14D-9 with the SEC. The purpose of the 14D-9 is, inter alia, to provide the Company’s stockholders with all
material information necessary for them to make an informed decision on whether to tender their shares in favor of the Proposed Transaction. However, significant and material
facts were not provided to Plaintiff. Without such information, Plaintiff cannot make a fully informed decision concerning whether or not to tender his shares in favor of the
Proposed Transaction.
 

Materially Misleading Statements/Omissions Regarding the Management-Prepared Financial Forecasts
 

25.The 14D-9 discloses management-prepared financial projections for the Company which are materially misleading. The 14D-9 indicates that in connection
with the rendering of Centerview’s fairness opinion, Centerview reviewed “certain internal information relating to the business, operations, earnings, cash flow, assets,



liabilities and prospects of the Company, including the Case One Projections and Case Two Projections . . . financial forecasts, analyses and projections relating to the Company
prepared by management of the Company .. . . .” Accordingly, the 14D-9 should have, but failed to, provide certain information in the projections that Resonant’s management
provided to the Board and Centerview.
 

26.Notably, the 14D-9 fails to disclose the line items underlying the calculation of Adjusted EBITDA for both the Case One Projections and the Case Two
Projections. The 14D-9 also fails to disclose the line items underlying the calculation of unlevered free cash flows for both the Case One Projections and the Case Two
Projections. This omitted information is necessary for Plaintiff to make an informed decision on whether to tender his shares in favor of the Proposed Transaction.
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Materially Incomplete and Misleading Disclosures Concerning Centerview’s Financial Analyses

 
27.With respect to the Discounted Cash Flow Analysis—Case One Projections, the 14D-9 fails to disclose the inputs and assumptions underlying the selection of

discount rates of 14.50% to 16.00%. The 14D-9 also fails to disclose the unlevered free cash flows for the Company for the 2027 to 2031. Furthermore, the 14D-9 fails to
disclose the inputs and assumptions underlying the selection of perpetuity growth rates of 2.0% to 3.0%, as well as the range of implied terminal values. In addition, the 14D-9
fails to disclose the tax savings from usage of the Company’s federal net operating losses as of December 31, 2021 and the estimated future losses. The 14D-9 further fails to
disclose the number of fully diluted outstanding shares of Resonant common stock as of February 11, 2022.

 
28.With respect to the Discounted Cash Flow Analysis—Case Two Projections, the 14D-9 fails to disclose the inputs and assumptions underlying the selection of

discount rates of 14.50% to 16.00%. The 14D-9 also fails to disclose the unlevered free cash flows for the Company for the 2027 to 2031. Furthermore, the 14D-9 fails to
disclose the inputs and assumptions underlying the selection of perpetuity growth rates of 2.0% to 3.0%, as well as the range of implied terminal values. In addition, the 14D-9
fails to disclose the tax savings from usage of the Company’s federal net operating losses as of December 31, 2021 and the estimated future losses. The 14D-9 further fails to
disclose the number of fully diluted outstanding shares of Resonant common stock as of February 11, 2022.
 

29.With respect to the Selected Public Company Analysis, theD-9 fails to disclose the Company’s estimated net cash as of December 31, 2021. The 14D-9 also
fails to disclose the number of fully diluted outstanding shares of Resonant common stock as of February 11, 2022.

 
30.With respect to the Analyst Price Target Analysis, the 14D-9 fails to disclose the source of the price targets utilized in the analysis. The 14D-9 also fails to

disclose the specific price targets utilized, as well as the identity of the financial firms who generated the price targets utilized in the analysis.
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31.            With respect to the Premiums Paid Analysis, the 14D-9 fails to disclose the dates and values of the transactions utilized in the analysis. The 14D-9 further fails

to disclose the premiums for the selected transactions.,
 
32.This information is necessary to provide Company stockholders a complete and accurate picture of the Proposed Transaction and its fairness. Without this

information the stockholders were not fully informed as to the defendants’ actions, including those that may have been taken in bad faith, and cannot fairly assess the process.
And without all material information, Plaintiff is unable to make a fully informed decision in connection with the Proposed Transaction and faces irreparable harm, warranting
the injunctive relief sought herein.

 
33.In addition, the Individual Defendants knew or recklessly disregarded that the 14D- 9  omits the material information concerning the Proposed Transaction

and contains the materially incomplete and misleading information discussed above.
 
34.Specifically, the Individual Defendants undoubtedly reviewed the contents of the 14D-9 before it was filed with the SEC. Indeed, as directors of the

Company, they were required to do so. The Individual Defendants thus knew or recklessly disregarded that the 14D-9 omits the material information referenced above and
contains the incomplete and misleading information referenced above.
 

35.Further, the 14D-9 indicates that on February 14, 2022, Centerview reviewed with the Board its financial analysis of the Merger Consideration and delivered
to the Board an oral opinion, which was confirmed by delivery of a written opinion of the same date, to the effect that the Merger Consideration was fair, from a financial point
of view, to Resonant stockholders. Accordingly, the Individual Defendants undoubtedly reviewed or were presented with the material information concerning Centerview’s
financial analyses which has been omitted from the 14D-9, and thus knew or should have known that such information has been omitted.
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36.Plaintiff is immediately threatened by the wrongs complained of herein, and lacks an adequate remedy at law. Accordingly, Plaintiff seeks injunctive and

other equitable relief to prevent the irreparable injury that he will continue to suffer absent judicial intervention.
 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
 

COUNT I
 

All Defendants for Violations of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14d-9
 

37.            Plaintiff incorporates each and every allegation set forth above as if fully set forth herein.
 

38.Defendants have filed the 14D-9 with the SEC with the intention of soliciting Resonant stockholder support for the Proposed Transaction. Each of the
Individual Defendants reviewed and authorized the dissemination of the 14D-9, which fails to provide the material information referenced above.

 
39.In so doing, Defendants made materially incomplete and misleading statements and/or omitted material information necessary to make the statements made

not misleading. Each of the Individual Defendants, by virtue of their roles as officers and/or directors of Resonant, were aware of the omitted information but failed to disclose
such information, in violation of Section 14(e).
 

40.            Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act provides that it is unlawful “for any person to make any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact



necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading. . . .” 15 U.S.C. § 78n(e).
 
41.Specifically, and as detailed above, the 14D-9 violates Section 14(e) and Rule 14d- 9  because it omits material facts concerning: (i) management’s financial

projections; and (ii) the value of Resonant shares and the financial analyses performed by Centerview in support of its fairness opinion.
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42.Moreover, in the exercise of reasonable care, the Individual Defendants knew or should have known that the 14D-9 is materially misleading and omits

material information that is necessary to render it not misleading. The Individual Defendants undoubtedly reviewed and relied upon the omitted information identified above in
connection with their decision to approve and recommend the Proposed Transaction; indeed, the 14D-9 states that Centerview reviewed and discussed its financial analyses
with the Board on February 14, 2022, and further states that the Board considered Centerview’s financial analyses and fairness opinion in connection with approving the
Proposed Transaction. The Individual Defendants knew or should have known that the material information identified above has been omitted from the 14D-9, rendering the
sections of the 14D-9 identified above to be materially incomplete and misleading.

 
43.The misrepresentations and omissions in the 14D-9 are material to Plaintiff, who will be deprived of his right to make an informed decision whether to tender

his shares if such misrepresentations and omissions are not corrected prior to the end of the tender offer. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law. Only through the exercise of
this Court’s equitable powers can Plaintiff be fully protected from the immediate and irreparable injury that Defendants’ actions threaten to inflict.
 

COUNT II
 

Against the Individual Defendants for Violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act
 

44.            Plaintiff incorporates each and every allegation set forth above as if fully set forth herein.
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45.The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of Resonant within the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein. By virtue of

their positions as officers and/or directors of Resonant and participation in and/or awareness of the Company’s operations and/or intimate knowledge of the incomplete and
misleading statements contained in the 14D-9 filed with the SEC, they had the power to influence and control and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision
making of the Company, including the content and dissemination of the various statements that Plaintiff contends are materially incomplete and misleading.

 
46.            Each of the Individual Defendants was provided with or had unlimited access to copies of the 14D-9 and other statements alleged by Plaintiff to be misleading

prior to the time the 14D-9 was filed with the SEC and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the statements to be corrected.
 
47.In particular, each of the Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in the day-to-day operations of the Company, and, therefore, is

presumed to have had the power to control or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the Exchange Act violations alleged herein, and exercised the same. The omitted
information identified above was reviewed by the Board prior to voting on the Proposed Transaction. The 14D-9 at issue contains the unanimous recommendation of each of the
Individual Defendants to approve the Proposed Transaction. They were, thus, directly involved in the making of the 14D-9.
 

48.In addition, as the 14D-9 sets forth at length, and as described herein, the Individual Defendants were involved in negotiating, reviewing, and approving the
Merger Agreement. The 14D-9 purports to describe the various issues and information that the Individual Defendants reviewed and considered. The Individual Defendants
participated in drafting and/or gave their input on the content of those descriptions.
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49.            By virtue of the foregoing, the Individual Defendants have violated Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.
 
50.As set forth above, the Individual Defendants had the ability to exercise control over and did control a person or persons who have each violated Section

14(e) and Rule 14d-9, by their acts and omissions as alleged herein. By virtue of their positions as controlling persons, these defendants are liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of
the Exchange Act. As a direct and proximate result of Individual Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff will be irreparably harmed.

 
RELIEF REQUESTED

 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff demands injunctive relief in his favor and against the Defendants jointly and severally, as follows:

 
A.            Preliminarily and permanently enjoining Defendants and their counsel, agents, employees and all persons acting under, in concert with, or for them, from filing

any amendment to the 14D-9 with the SEC unless and until Defendants agree to include the material information identified above in any such amendment;
 

B.Preliminarily and permanently enjoining Defendants and their counsel, agents, employees and all persons acting under, in concert with, or for them, from
proceeding with, consummating, or closing the Proposed Transaction, unless and until Defendants disclose the material information identified above which has been omitted
from the 14D-9;

 
C.            In the event that the transaction is consummated prior to the entry of this Court’s final judgment, rescinding it or awarding Plaintiff rescissory damages;
 
D.            Directing the Defendants to account to Plaintiff for all damages suffered as a result of their wrongdoing;
 
E.            Awarding Plaintiff the costs and disbursements of this action, including reasonable attorneys’ and expert fees and expenses; and
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F.            Granting such other and further equitable relief as this Court may deem just and proper.
 

JURY DEMAND
 

Plaintiff demands a trial by jury.
 
Dated: March 4, 2022 ROWLEY LAW PLLC
  
 S/ Shane T. Rowley
 Shane T. Rowley (SR-0740)
 Danielle Rowland Lindahl
 50 Main Street, Suite 1000
 White Plains, NY 10606
 Tel: (914) 400-1920
 Fax: (914) 301-3514
 Email: srowley@rowleylawpllc.com
 Email: drl@rowleylawpllc.com
  
 Attorneys for Plaintiff
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Exhibit (a)(5)(E)

 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
SOUTHERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK
------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------------  
KEN CALLEN,  

Plaintiff, Case No. 1:22-cv-1903
  

v. COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF
 SECTIONS 14(e) AND 20(a) OF
RESONANT INC., GEORGE B. HOLMES, THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT
MICHAEL J. FOX, RUBEN CABALLERO, OF 1934
ALAN B. HOWE, JACK H. JACOBS,  
JOSHUA JACOBS, JEAN F. RANKIN,  
ROBERT TIRVA and MARTIN S. JURY TRIAL DEMAND
MCDERMUT.  

Defendants.  
  
 

Plaintiff Ken Callen (“Plaintiff”), by his undersigned attorneys, alleges as follows based (i) upon personal knowledge with respect to himself and his own acts, and
(ii) upon information and belief as to all other matters based on the investigation conducted by his attorneys, which included, among other things, a review of relevant U.S.
Securities and Exchange Commission (“SEC”) filings, and other publicly available information.
 

NATURE OF THE ACTION
 

1.This action is brought by Plaintiff against Resonant, Inc. (“Resonant” or the “Company”), members of the Company’s board of directors (“Board”) and certain
executive officers for violations of Sections 14(e) and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (“Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. § 78n(e) and § 78t(a). Plaintiff’s claims arise
in connection with the Board’s recommendation that the stockholders of the Company tender their shares to PJ Cosmos Acquisition Company Inc., (“PJCAC”), a wholly owned
subsidiary of Murata Electronics North America, Inc. (together with PJCAC, “Murata America”), pursuant to Murata America’s offer to acquire all of the issued and
outstanding shares of Resonant for $4.50 per share in cash (“Tender Offer”).
 

 

 

 
2.            On February 14, 2022, Resonant and Murata America announced that they had entered into an agreement (“Merger Agreement”) providing for Murata

America to purchase all outstanding shares of Resonant in a tender offer at $4.50 per share in cash (“Merger Consideration”).
 

3.            On February 28, 2022, Murata America commenced the Tender Offer by filing a Tender Offer Statement on Schedule TO (“TO Statement”) with the Securities
and Exchange Commission (“SEC”). The TO Statement provides that the Tender Offer expires one minute after 11:59 p.m., Eastern Time, on March 25, 2022 (“Expiration
Date”), unless extended or earlier terminated in accordance with the Merger Agreement. The TO Statement further provides that if the number of Resonant shares validly
tendered pursuant to the Tender Offer, when added to the share already owned by Murata America, represent a majority of the total number of Resonant shares outstanding, and
certain other conditions are satisfied, the Tender Offer will be consummated and PJCAC will be merged with and into Resonant under Section 251(h) of the General Corporation
Law of the State of Delaware (“DGCL”) without a vote by Resonant stockholders, with Resonant continuing as the surviving corporation and a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Murata America (“Merger”).
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4.            On February 28, 2022, Defendants filed a materially false and misleading Schedule 14D-9 Solicitation/Recommendation Statement (“Recommendation

Statement”) with the SEC recommending that Resonant stockholders tender their shares to Murata America pursuant to the Tender Offer. Specifically, the Recommendation
Statement contains material misrepresentations and omissions concerning, among other things: (i) the false opinions of Resonant management concerning Resonant’s projected
sales from 2022-2026, as presented in the Recommendation Statement (which differ by an order of magnitude from the far more optimistic opinion concerning Resonant’s
projected sales shared by Defendant Holmes four times in prior public statements); and (ii) the flawed discounted cash flow analysis prepared by Centerview Partners LLC
(“Centerview”), which used relied on management’s false projections and inflated discount rates. Such material misrepresentations and omissions render the Recommendation
Statement false and misleading in violation of the above-referenced Exchange Act provisions.
 

5.It is imperative that such violations are promptly cured to enable Resonant’s public stockholders to make an informed decision concerning whether to tender
their shares to Murata America before the Expiration Date. Therefore, Plaintiff seeks to enjoin Defendants from closing the Tender Offer and/or taking any steps to consummate
the Merger, until such violations are cured. Alternatively, if the Tender is closed and the Merger is consummated, Plaintiff reserves the right to recover damages suffered by
himself and similarly-situated investors as a result of such violations.
 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
 

6.            This Court has subject matter jurisdiction over the claims asserted herein for violations of Sections 14(e) and 20(a) of the Exchange Act pursuant to Section 27
of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa, and 28 U.S.C. § 1331 (federal question jurisdiction).
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7.This Court has personal jurisdiction over each of the Defendants because each defendant has sufficient minimum contacts with the United States so as to make

the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court permissible under traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice. See Moon Joo Yu v. Premiere Power LLC, No. 14 CIV. 7588
KPF, 2015 WL 4629495, at *5 (S.D.N.Y. Aug. 4, 2015) (because Exchange Act provides for nationwide service of process, and Defendant resides within the United States, and
conducts business within the United States, he should reasonably anticipate being haled into court in the United States, and Court’s exercise of personal jurisdiction over
Defendant with respect to Plaintiffs’ securities fraud claim is proper); In re LIBOR-Based Fin. Instruments Antitrust Litig., No. 11 MDL 2262 NRB, 2015 WL 6243526, at *23
(S.D.N.Y. Oct. 20, 2015) (“[w]hen the jurisdictional issue flows from a federal statutory grant that authorizes suit under federal-question jurisdiction and nationwide service of



process .. . . Second Circuit has consistently held that the minimum-contacts test in such circumstances looks to contacts with the entire United States rather than with the forum
state.”).
 

8.Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) because Defendants transact business in this District. In particular, Resonant’s common stock trades under the
ticker “Resonant” on NASDAQ, which is headquartered in this District, and the false and misleading Recommendation Statement was filed with the SEC, which is
headquartered in this District. See Mariash v. Morrill, 496 F.2d 1138, 1144 (2d Cir. 1974) (venue appropriate in the Southern District of New York where an act or transaction
constituting the alleged violation occurred in the Southern District of New York); United States v. Svoboda, 347 F.3d 471, 484 n.13 (2d Cir. 2003) (venue in tender offer fraud
prosecution appropriate in District).
 

PARTIES
 

9.            Plaintiff is, and has been at all relevant times, a continuous stockholder of Resonant stock.
 

10.Defendant Resonant is a Delaware corporation with its principal executive offices located at 10900 Stonelake Blvd., Suite 100, Office 02-130, Austin, TX
78759. Resonant’s common stock trades on Nasdaq under the ticker symbol “RESN.”
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11.          Defendant George B. Holmes (“Holmes”) has, at all relevant times, served as the Chairman of the Board, and the Chief Executive Officer (“CEO”) of

Resonant.
 

12.          Defendant Michael J. Fox (“Fox”) has, at all relevant times, served as a member of the Board.
 

13.          Defendant Ruben Caballero (“Caballero”) has, at all relevant times, served as a member of the Board.
 

14.          Defendant Alan B. Howe (“Howe”) has, at all relevant times, served as a member of the Board.
 

15.          Defendant Jack H. Jacobs (“Jack Jacobs”) has, at all relevant times, served as a member of the Board.
 

16.          Defendant Joshua Jacobs (“Joshua Jacobs”) has, at all relevant times, served as a member of the Board.
 

17.          Defendant Jean F. Rankin (“Rankin”) has, at all relevant times, served as a member of the Board.
 

18.          Defendant Robert Tirva (“Tirva”) has, at all relevant times, served as a member of the Board.
 

19.          Defendant Martin S. McDermut has, at all relevant times, served as the Chief Financial Officer (“CFO”) of Resonant. McDermut signed the Recommendation
Statement in his capacity as CFO of Resonant.
 

20.Defendants identified in paragraphs 11 to 19 are collectively referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants,” and together with Resonant, collectively, the
“Defendants.”
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OTHER RELEVANT ENTITIES

 
21.            Murata America is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Murata Manufacturing Co., Ltd. (“Murata Japan”), of Kyoto, Japan. Murata Japan is a global manufacturer

of electronic components.
 

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS
 
Company Background
 

22.            Resonant designs radio frequency (RF) filters for the mobile device industry. RF filters are electronic components used in mobile devices to select required
signals and filter out unwanted signals, and thereby ensure clear communication without “noise.” Signals are electromagnetic waves that transmit information. Mobile phones
send signals to (and receive them from) cell towers using RF waves (which are a form of energy in the electromagnetic spectrum that falls between FM radio waves and
microwaves).
 
Pre-Existing Relationship Between Resonant and Murata and Murata Japan
 

23.As an emerging manufacturer of sophisticated electronic components, Resonant sought a development partner to assist in the commercialization of its line of
XBAR filters. On July 31, 2019, Resonant’s search for a partner culminated in a deal pursuant to which Resonant sold 3,960,560 shares to Murata America and other investors
at $2.53/share (with 2,766,798 of those shares to be issued to Murata for approximately $7.0 million).
 

24.            As a result of the foregoing transaction, Murata America currently owns approximately 4.1% of the outstanding shares of Resonant common stock. Therefore,
in connection with the Merger, Murata America stands on both sides of the transaction.
 

25.The closing of Murata America’s investment in Resonant was subject to, among other conditions, the execution of a multi-year agreement providing Murata
Japan with rights to multiple proprietary circuit designs utilizing Resonant’s XBAR technology.
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26.            On September 30, 2019, Resonant and Murata Japan entered into a collaboration and license agreement (“CLA”) under which (i) Resonant and Murata Japan

agreed to collaborate on the development of proprietary circuit designs using Resonant’s XBAR technology, (ii) Resonant agreed to license those designs to Murata Japan for



products in four specific radio frequency bands in exchange for Murata Japan’s agreement to pay Resonant up to $9.0 million in pre-paid royalties and other fees (of which $4.5
million had been paid to Resonant as of the date of the Recommendation Statement); and (iii) Resonant granted exclusive rights to Murata Japan to use Resonant’s XBAR
technology in mobile communication devices for thirty (30) months, i.e., through March 31, 2022 (“Murata Exclusivity Expiration Date”).
 

27.            Under the CLA, Resonant and Murata Japan and their respective management and engineering personnel collaborated on the design of radio frequency filters
using Resonant’s XBAR technology. In that context, the management of Resonant and Murata Japan also discussed possible alternatives for broadening their commercial
relationship, including by expanding the scope of the CLA and the potential for Murata Japan to acquire Resonant.
 

28.            From March 2021 through September 2021, Resonant and Murata Japan negotiated an increase in the number of radio frequency bands for which filters were
being developed under the CLA.
 

29.            These discussions culminated in Resonant and Murata Japan executing, on September 30, 2021, an Addendum to the CLA (“CLA Addendum”), which
(i) provides for the development of proprietary circuit designs using Resonant’s XBAR technology for up to four additional specific radio frequency bands; and (ii) licenses the
designs for these four additional bands to Murata Japan in exchange for Murata Japan’s agreement to pay Resonant a minimum of $4.0 million, and up to an aggregate of
between $8.0 million and $36.0 million, in pre-paid royalties and other fees (of which $7.0 million has been paid to Resonant as of the date of the Recommendation Statement).
Under the CLA Addendum, Murata Japan retained exclusive rights to Resonant’s XBAR technology for use in mobile communication devices through the Murata Exclusivity
Expiration Date (i.e., March 31, 2022).
 

 7  

 

 
Resonant’s Financial Results in Q4 2020
 

30.            On March 15, 2021, Resonant announced its results for the fourth quarter (Q4) of 2020. On an earnings call held on March 15, 2021 (“Q4 2020 Earnings
Call”), Defendant Holmes touted Resonant’s progress under the CLA:
 

[W]e achieved the second milestone under the [CLA] in October, well ahead of schedule. This is incredibly significant as it validates our XBAR filters for 5G,
meaning they do what we say they are going to do and we confirm targeted performance, packaging, and initial reliability. This achievement brings in prepaid
royalties in the millions of dollars rather than having to wait for unit shipments. We have received 50% of the prepaid royalties for these first four bands today.
We're now focused on the next phase of the agreement, which focuses on building a commercial platform and high-volume manufacturing of XBAR based RF
filters for 5G applications. From here, we have two more milestones to hit as their designs move to commercial production and high-volume OEM shipments.
Our work with [Murata Japan] is going exactly as anticipated, and it remains the potential for us to contract with them for additional designs this year.

 

31.            Defendant Holmes thereafter opined that Murata Japan “alone could represent a potential of over $100 million in annual revenue for Resonant.”1
Explaining the basis for this projection, Defendant Holmes stated:
 

While that seems like a big step from where we are today, it becomes clear when observing [Murata Japan’s] position in the industry. The top seven filter
manufacturer controlled over 90% of the market for filters and duplexers, [Murata Japan] has the largest market share in both categories, controlling 37% of the
filter market and 32% of the duplexer market. Their filter market share is bigger than the second and third largest players combined. Further, [Murata Japan]
has established relationships with some of the world’s largest handset OEMs which allows us to leverage their expertise to bring XBAR into the market versus
doing it ourselves.
 

1 All emphasis is added unless otherwise noted.
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Resonant’s Financial Results in Q1 2021
 

32.            On May 12, 2021, Resonant announced its results for the first quarter (Q1) of 2021. On an earnings call held on May 12, 2021 (“Q1 2021 Earnings Call”),
Defendant Holmes again addressed the potential the CLA:
 

[W]e achieved the second of four milestones under this agreement in October. This was a critical point of the process as it validated our XBAR filters for 5G
with confirm targeted performance, packaging and initial reliability. As a result of this achievement which occurred ahead of schedule, we have been able to
monetize the partnership in form of prepaid royalties. To date we have received 50% of the prepaid royalties for the initial contract. As a next step with [Murata
Japan], we will move to the commercial production phase of the agreement and turn our focus to high volume manufacturing of XBAR-based RF filters for 5G
applications. Our work with [Murata Japan] validates our belief that finding RF filter solutions that can meet the demands high frequency applications is
paramount for the industry. Going forward there remains the potential for us to contract with [Murata Japan] for additional designs this year as we work towards
the remaining two milestones of the agreement. Allow me to put the opportunity of this partnership [with Murata Japan] into perspective by observing the
competitive landscape of the RF filter manufacturing industry category.

 
A few key facts are as follows: 98% of the market for filters and duplexers are controlled by the Top 7 filter manufacturers. [Murata Japan] has the largest
market share in both categories, controlling 37% of the filter market and 32% of duplexer market. Their filter market share is bigger than the second and third
largest filter players combined. Further, [Murata Japan] has established relationships with some of the world's largest OEMs which allows us to leverage their
expertise to bring XBAR into the market versus doing it ourselves.

 
33.            With that background, Defendant Holmes opined for the second time in as many conference calls that “[g]iven these market dynamics,” Murata Japan “alone

represents a potential of over $100 million of annual revenue for Resonant.”
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Resonant’s Financial Results in 2Q 2021
 

34.            On August 11, 2021, Resonant announced its results for the second quarter (Q2) of 2021. On an earnings call held on August 11, 2021 (“Q2 2021 Earnings



Call”), Defendant Holmes again addressed the potential of the CLA:
 

The market for filters and duplexers is extremely concentrated. The top seven filter manufacturers controlling 96% of the market. [Murata Japan] has the largest
market share in both categories, controlling 36% of the filter market and 33% of the duplexer market.

 
[Murata Japan is] also the largest filter supplier by a significant margin as evidenced by their filter market share being larger than the second and third largest
players combined. By leveraging [Murata Japan’s] established relationships with the world’s largest handset OEMs, we expect XBAR technologies to penetrate
a large portion of the market.

 
35.            Defendant Holmes then opined for the third time in as many conference calls that “[t]his partnership [with Murata Japan] alone represents the potential of

over $100 million in annual revenue for Resonant.”
 
Resonant’s Financial Results in 3Q 2021
 

36.            On November 10, 2021, Resonant announced its results for the third quarter (Q3) of 2021. On an earnings call held on November 10, 2021 (“Q3 2021
Earnings Call”), Defendant Holmes highlighted the execution of the CLA Addendum, which had expanded the CLA “from $9 million to a value ranging from $17 million to
$43 million depending on the complexity of the bands chosen [by Murata Japan].” Defendant Holmes also observed that “as a licensing company . . . we expect to have very
high operating margins,” and added that there “also remains the potential for us to contract even more designs with [Murata Japan], which is especially attractive given their
dominant share of the RF and duplexer market.” Defendant Holmes then reiterated for the fourth time in as many conference calls that “we believe this partnership [with Murata
Japan] could potentially increase to $100 million annual revenue opportunities for Resonant when 5G and Wi-Fi 6 reach the full-scale deployments.”
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Murata America Proposes to Acquire Resonant
 

37.           On September 20, 2021, ten days before execution of the CLA Addendum, senior Murata Japan executives conveyed their interest in acquiring Resonant to
Defendant Holmes. Defendant Holmes asked for a written proposal.
 

38.           On October 12, 2021, Murata America proposed acquiring Resonant for $4.00 per share in cash. Discussions continued between Defendant Holmes and
Murata Japan executives, and in the meantime, on November 9, 2021, the Board retained Centerview to serve as its financial advisor. Thereafter, Centerview began meeting
with multiple parties to solicit their interest in pursuing a transaction with Resonant.
 
The Financial Projections of Resonant’s Management and Financial Opinion of Centerview
 

39.           On December 9, 2021, Murata America increased its bid to $4.20 per share in cash. Thereafter, purportedly for the first time, Resonant management prepared
long-range financial projections for fiscal years 2022 through 2026, consisting of two sets of projections, “Case One” and “Case Two” (together, the “Case Projections”), which
were approved by the Board on December 15, 2021, for presentation to Murata America and other bidders, and later used by Centerview to prepare a discounted cash flow
analysis (“DCF Analysis”) as part of its fairness opinion (“Centerview Fairness Opinion”).
 

40.           The Case One Projections assume that Murata America remains Resonant’s only significant technology and licensing partners during the relevant time period:
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Case One Projections

 

  
For Fiscal Year 

Ending December 31,  
($ In millions)  2022E   2023E   2024E   2025E   2026E  
Revenue   7.8   14.6   24.0   35.1   48.7 
Operating income   (34.1)   (29.0)   (21.2)   (11.6)   0.7 
Adjusted EBITDA(1)   (27.7)   (22.3)   (14.2)   (4.5)   8.1 
Capital expenditures and other   0.7   0.7   0.7   0.7   0.7 

 
41. The Case Two Projections assume that: (i) in addition to Murata America, Resonant adds multiple significant technology development and licensing partners

during the projections period; (ii) an increase in market share for Resonant’s filter designs; and (iii) an increase from 7% to 10% in the assumed royalty rate for the license of
Resonant’s filter designs:
 

Case Two Projections
 

  
For Fiscal Year 

Ending December 31,  
($ In millions)  2022E   2023E   2024E   2025E   2026E  
Revenue   7.8   18.2   35.7   60.2   96.6 
Operating income   (34.1)   (26.3)   (11.3)   10.5   45.3 
Adjusted EBITDA(1)   (27.7)   (19.5)   (4.1)   18.1   53.2 
Capital expenditures and other   0.7   0.7   0.7   0.7   0.7 

  
42.           In connection with the Centerview Fairness Opinion, Centerview used the Case Projections to prepare estimates of unlevered cash flows for years 2022 to

2026:
 

Case One Projections: The estimated unlevered free cash flows for the years 2022 through 2026 were, respectively (in millions): ($34.1), ($29.0), ($21.2), ($11.6) and $0.6.
 

Case Two Projections: The estimated unlevered free cash flows for the years 2022 through 2026 were, respectively (in millions): ($34.1), ($26.3), ($11.3), $8.3 and $35.8.
 

43.           Centerview used its estimates of unlevered cash flows to prepare a DCF Analysis that valued Resonant based on the Case Projections using discount rates



ranging from 14.5% to 16.0%. The DCF Analysis purported to yield value ranges for Resonant’s common stock of (i) approximately $0.79 and $1.19 per share using the Case
One Projections, and (ii) of approximately $3.81 and $4.82 per share using the Case Two Projections.
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The Board Approves the Merger and Resolves to Recommend
 
That Resonant Stockholders Tender Their Shares
 

44.           On January 30, 2022, Murata America submitted what it stated was its last, best and final offer of $4.50 per share in cash.
 

45. On February 2, 2022, Resonant entered into exclusive negotiations with Murata America.
 

46.           On February 14, 2022, after several rounds of negotiations, the Board held a meeting at which, inter alia, Centerview orally presented the Centerview
Fairness Opinion (which was later committed to writing) concluding that the Merger Consideration was fair, from a financial point of view, to Resonant shareholders.
 

47.           Following the oral presentation of the Centerview Fairness Opinion, and for the reasons set forth in the Recommendation Statement (including consideration
of the Centerview Fairness Opinion), the Board unanimously (1) approved the Merger Agreement and the transactions contemplated thereby (“Proposed Transactions”),
including the Tender Offer and the Merger, (2) determined that the Proposed Transactions, including the Tender Offer and the Merger, are in the best interests of Resonant and
its stockholders, (3) resolved that the Merger shall be governed by and effected under Section 251(h) of the DGCL, and (4) resolved to recommend that Resonant stockholders
tender their shares to Murata America pursuant to the Tender Offer.
 

48.On February 14, 2022, the Merger Agreement was executed, and later that same day, Resonant and Murata America issued a joint press release announcing
the execution of the Merger Agreement and the forthcoming commencement of the Tender Offer.
 
Receipt of Different Consideration by Officers and Directors
 

49.The Recommendation Statement acknowledges that the executive officers and directors of Resonant may be considered to have interests in the Proposed
Transactions (including the Tender Offer and the Merger) “that may be different from or in addition to those of the Company’s stockholders generally.”
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50.Under the Merger Agreement, each outstanding Resonant Restricted Stock Unit (“RSU”), whether vested or unvested, that is outstanding immediately prior to

the closing of the Merger, shall automatically convert into a right of its holder to receive cash payments upon consummation of the Merger, as per formulas described in the
Recommendation Statement.
 

51.           As a result of such automatic acceleration and vesting of all outstanding RSU’s upon consummation of the Merger, Resonant’s executive officers and directors
collectively stand to earn millions in cash upon consummation of the Merger—a major liquidity event— as per the following tables appearing in the Recommendation
Statement:
 

  Number of Shares     
  Underlying RSUs     
  (Time-Based   Amount of RSU  
Name  Vesting)   Consideration($)  
Executive Officers:         
George B. Holmes   431,101   1,939,954.50 
Martin S. McDermut   143,233   644,548.50 
Dylan Kelly   302,759   1,362,415.50 
Clint Brown   188,024   846,108.00 
Neal Fenzi   119,367   537,151.50 
Lisa Wolf   135,539   609,925.50 
Non-Employee Directors:         
Ruben Caballero   106,553   479,488.50 
Michael J. Fox   108,334   487,503.00 
Alan B. Howe   57,499   258,745.50 
Jack H. Jacobs   57,499   258,745.50 
Joshua Jacobs   57,499   258,745.50 
Jean F. Rankin   67,499   303,745.50 
Robert Tirva   67,499   303,745.50 
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52.Absent the Merger Agreement providing for automatic acceleration and vesting of all outstanding RSU’s upon consummation of the Merger, the RSU’s of

Resonant’s top three officers would only accelerate and fully vest in the event of a “Qualifying Termination” within a 24-month period following a “change in control.”
However, there is no indication that any of these officers will be terminated after the Merger closes, and thus absent the automatic acceleration and vesting of all RSU’s upon
consummation of the Merger, there would be no major liquidity event for such officers.
 

53.Additionally, because the acquisition of Resonant contemplated by the Merger Agreement is an all-cash deal, Resonant’s executive officers and directors will
earn over $20 million on their current illiquid stockholdings upon consummation of the Merger (beyond the earnings resulting from immediate acceleration and vesting of
RSU’s), as per the following table appearing in the Recommendation Statement:
 

  
Number of 

Shares Owned   
Value of 

Shares Owned  



Executive Officers:
        

George B. Holmes   527,436  $ 2,373,462.00 
Martin S. McDermut(1)   271,825   1,223,212.50 
Dylan Kelly   174,197   783,886.50 
Neal Fenzi   584,730   2,631,285.00 
Clint Brown (2)   118,750   534,375.00 
Lisa Wolf(3)   170,608   767,736.00 
Non-Employee Directors:         
Ruben Caballero   154,462   695,079.00 
Michael J. Fox(4)   2,121,168   9,545,256.00 
Alan B. Howe   69.184   311,328.00 
Jack H. Jacobs   64,184   288,828.00 
Joshua Jacobs   67,684   304,578.00 
Jean F. Rankin   73,512   330,804.00 
Robert Tirva   64,184   288,828.00 
Total   4,461,924  $ 20,078,658.00 
 
The Recommendation Statement Contains Material Misrepresentations and Omissions
 

54.Defendants disseminated a false and misleading Recommendation Statement to Resonant’s stockholders that misrepresents or omits material information that
is necessary for Resonant stockholders to make an informed decision concerning whether to tender their shares to Murata pursuant to the Tender Offer.
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False and Misleading Statements Regarding Preparation and Disclosure of Long-Range Financial Projections
 

55.The Recommendation Statement states that, in December 2021, “management prepared, for the first time, long-range financial projections for the fiscal years
2022 through 2026.” The “projections” referred to in this statement were the Case Projections set forth above.
 

56.           The Recommendation Statement further states that the “Company does not, as a matter of course, publicly disclose long-term forecasts or internal
projections as to future performance or results of operations given the inherent unpredictability of underlying assumptions and projections.”
 

57.           The statements referenced in paragraphs 55-56 above were false and misleading. As noted above, on the Q4 2020 Earnings Call, Q1 2021 Earnings Call, Q2
2021 Earnings Call, and Q3 2021 Earnings Call, Defendant Holmes repeatedly expressed the belief that the partnership with Murata Japan “alone” represented “a potential of
over $100 million in annual revenue for Resonant.” In opining on the annual revenue potential from the partnership with Murata Japan “alone,” Defendant Holmes detailed the
assumptions underlying his belief, which indicated that management had visibility into the revenue potential of the partnership with Murata Japan. Thus, contrary to the
statements above in the Recommendation Statement, Resonant had previously prepared long-range projections based on various assumptions, and Defendant Holmes had
publicly disclosed those projections and the assumptions underlying them.
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The Case Projections in the Recommendation Statement Were Subjectively and Objectively False Statements of Opinion
 

58.           As noted, on the on the Q4 2020 Earnings Call, Q1 2021 Earnings Call, Q2 2021 Earnings Call, and Q3 2021 Earnings Call, Defendant Holmes repeatedly
expressed the belief that the partnership with Murata Japan “alone” represented a potential of over $100 million in annual revenue for Resonant. In sharp contrast, based on the
assumption that Murata America would remain Resonant’s only significant technology and licensing partners during the period of 2022 to 2026, Resonant’s management
expressed the view in the Case One Projections that revenue would grow from $7.8 million in 2022 to $48.7 million in 2026—less than half the $100 million in annual revenue
potential touted by Defendant Holmes in the four prior earnings calls before the Merger.
 

59.           Indeed, the Case Two Projections do not even reach $100 million in revenue in 2026, even though the Case Two Projections rest on substantially more
favorable assumptions than Defendant Holmes had disclosed on the Earnings Calls in connection with opining on the annual revenue potential from Murata Japan alone.
Specifically, the Case Two Projections assumed: (i) in addition to Murata America, Resonant would add multiple significant technology development and licensing partners
during the projections period; (ii) an increase in market share for Resonant’s filter designs; and (iii) an increase from 7% to 10% in the assumed royalty rate for the license of
Resonant’s filter designs. Yet, the Case Two Projections still fall short of Defendant Holmes’ projections relying on the partnership with Murata Japan alone.
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60.Given the huge discrepancy between the prior public statements of Defendant Holmes concerning the $100 million annual revenue potential from the

partnership with Murata Japan “alone,” and the revenue potential appearing in the Case Projections in the Recommendation Statement, the Case Projections plainly did not
reflect the legitimately held opinion of Resonant management regarding either the annual revenue potential from a partnership with Murata Japan “alone” or the annual revenue
potential based on the additional assumptions underlying the Case Two Projections. Instead, it is apparent that the projections of the annual revenue potential from the
partnership with Murata Japan alone in Defendants Holmes’ prior public statements represented the legitimately held opinion of Resonant management, and the Case
Projections were created solely for the improper purpose of engineering a DCF Analysis that would allow Centerview to conclude that the Merger Consideration was fair. In
sum, because Resonant management did not genuinely and honestly believe the Case Projections in the Recommendation Statement, such projections are subjectively false.
 

61.The Case Projections are also objectively false because they plainly relied on unreasonable and inaccurate assumptions, as evidenced by the huge gap between
the prior public statements of Defendant Holmes concerning the $100 million annual revenue potential from the partnership with Murata Japan “alone,” and the far more
pessimistic revenue potential appearing in the Case Projections in the Recommendation Statement (even when, in the case of the Case Two Projections, making more favorable
assumptions). There can be no plausible explanation for that vast gap other than that, in connection with preparing the Case Projections in the Recommendation Statement,
Resonant management manipulated assumptions in order to generate the more pessimistic Case Projections for the sole purpose of ensuring a DCF Analysis that would allow
Centerview to conclude the Merger Consideration was fair.
 



62.Defendants harbored an incentive to create the subjectively and objectively false Case Projections and thereby make the Merger Consideration appear fair
because they stand to reap millions from their Resonant shares, and acceleration of Resonant RSU’s, if the all-cash transaction with Murata is consummated. That incentive
motivated Resonant management to provide Centerview with the false Case Projections, which depressed the value share ranges derived from the DCF Analysis, and thereby
made the Merger Consideration appear fair, when in fact, it is not.
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The Centerview Financial Opinion Was False and Misleading
 

63.           Since one of the key components of the DCF Analysis underlying the Centerview Fairness Opinion was the Case Projections, and those projections are
subjectively and objectively false, the Centerview Fairness Opinion is also false and misleading to the extent it uses the false and misleading Case Projections as one of the key
components to calculate value per share ranges under the DCF Analysis. Had the DCF Analysis used reasonable projections that Resonant management genuinely believed, the

value per share ranges derived from the DCF Analysis would have been higher and indicated that the Merger Consideration was not fair.2
 

64.           Indeed, the Centerview Fairness Opinion acknowledges that an analysis of Wall Street price targets as of February 11, 2022, indicated low and high price
targets for Resonant ranging from $5.00 to $6.25 per share (both above the price per share approved by the Board). Likewise, according to an analysis of Wall Street Resonant
price targets in the last 90 days published on Seeking Alpha on February 15, 2022, the 7 analysts covering Resonant had an average price target of $5.75 per share, which is
above the price per share approved by the Board:
 

 
 
2 While the Centerview Fairness Opinion purported to rely on other valuation measures, it is widely recognized that DCF analysis is entitled to the greatest weight. Andaloro v.
PFPC Worldwide, Inc., No. CIV.A. 20289, 2005 WL 2045640, at *9 (Del. Ch. Aug. 19, 2005) (“The DCF method is frequently used in this court and, I, like many others,
prefer to give it great, and sometimes even exclusive, weight when it may be used responsibly.”).
 
Separately, Centerview apparently made no effort to value Resonant’s substantial patent portfolio. According to slides presented in connection with the Q2 2021 Earnings Call,
Resonant has more pending and issued patents with respect to filter designs than vastly larger companies like Qualcom, Broadcom, and Skyworks.
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65.Beyond its reliance on the false and misleading Case Projections, the description of the Centerview Fairness Opinion in the Recommendation Statement also

improperly fails to disclose certain key inputs and assumptions underlying the analyses on which it was based, which further renders it false and misleading. Without this
information, as described below, Resonant’s public stockholders are unable to fully understand these analyses and, thus, are unable to determine what weight, if any, to place on
the Centerview Fairness Opinion in determining whether to tender their shares. This omitted information, if disclosed, would significantly alter the total mix of information
available to Resonant’s stockholders.
 

66.           With respect to Centerview’s Discounted Cash Flow Analysis of Resonant, the Recommendation Statement fails to adequately disclose how Centerview
determined that a discount rate range of 14.50% to 16.00% was appropriate. The explanation that the discount rate reflects “Centerview’s analysis of the Company’s weighted
average cost of capital (“WACC”)” is bereft of any explanation.
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67.          Notably, the online research firm Simply Wall Street uses far lower discount rates (calculated according to a fully disclosed methodology) to value the four
public companies that Centerview identifies as comparable to Resonant in the Centerview Fairness Opinion’s Selected Public Company Analysis: Alphawave IP Group (6.3%
discount rate), Arteris Inc. (6.2%), (CEVA (6.7%), and M31 Technology Corp. (6.2%):
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68.The vastly higher discount rate range of 14.50% to 16.00% used by Centerview (according to an undisclosed methodology) sharply depressed the value range

for Resonant’s shares. See In re Topps Co. S'holders Litig., 926 A.2d 58, 76 (Del. Ch. 2007) (raising discount rates drives down the resulting value range). Shareholders are
entitled to further disclosure on how Centerview derived its seemingly excessively high discount rate range. See Topps, 926 A.2d at 76 (subjective judgments regarding discount
rates are not scientific, “but highly-paid valuation advisors should be able to rationally explain them.”).
 

69.          With respect to Centerview’s Unlevered Free Cash Flow projections appearing in the Case Projections, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose how
Centerview derived those unlevered free cash flow projections. Since Centerview used the unlevered free cash flows in its DCF Analysis, Resonant stockholders are entitled to
further disclosures on how those unlevered free cash flows were derived.
 

CLAIMS FOR RELIEF
 

COUNT I
 

Against All Defendants for Violations of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act
 

70.           Plaintiff incorporates and repeats each and every allegation above as if fully set forth herein.
 



71.          Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act provides that it is unlawful “for any person to make any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact
necessary in order to make the statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading .. . . in connection with any tender offer or request
or invitation for tenders, or any solicitation of security holders in opposition to or in favor of any such offer, request, or invitation.” 15 U.S.C. § 78n(e).
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72.          Defendants disseminated the Recommendation Statement to Resonant stockholders recommending that Resonant stockholders tender their shares to Murata

America in connection with the Tender Offer.
 

73.          By virtue of their positions within the Company, and/or roles in the process of preparing, reviewing, and/or disseminating the Recommendation Statement,
Defendants were aware of their duty not to make false and misleading statements in the Recommendation Statement, and not to omit material facts from the Recommendation
Statement necessary to make statements made therein— in light of the circumstances under which they were made—not misleading.
 

74.Yet, as specified in paragraphs 54-69 above, in violation of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act, Defendants knowingly or recklessly (i) made untrue statements
of material fact in the Recommendation Statement, and (ii) omitted material facts from the Recommendation Statement necessary to make statements therein— in light of the
circumstances under which they were made—not misleading, in order to induce Resonant stockholders to tender their shares in the Tender Offer, and thereby maximize their
own personal gain from the immediate sale of all of their Resonant shares for cash, and the immediate conversion of all of their Resonant RSU’s into cash. As such, the material
misrepresentations and omissions in the Recommendation Statement specified above were made by Defendants with scienter.
 

75.          The material misrepresentations and omissions in the Recommendation Statement specified above are material insofar as there is a substantial likelihood that a
reasonable Resonant stockholder would consider them important in deciding whether to tender their shares. In addition, a reasonable Resonant investor would view disclosures
of the omitted facts specified above as significantly altering the “total mix” of information made available to Resonant stockholders.
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76.Because of the material misrepresentations and omissions in the Recommendation Statement specified above, Plaintiff and other Resonant stockholders are

threatened with irreparable harm insofar as Plaintiff and other Resonant stockholders will be deprived of their entitlement to make a fully informed decision as to whether to
tender their shares in connection with the Tender Offer if such material misrepresentations and omissions are not corrected prior to the Expiration Date. Therefore, injunctive
relief is appropriate.
 

COUNT II
 

Against the Individual Defendants for
Violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act

 
77.          Plaintiff incorporates and repeats each and every allegation above as if fully set forth herein

 
78.          The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of Resonant within the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act, as alleged herein. By virtue of

their positions as officers and/or directors of Resonant, and participation in, and/or awareness of Resonant’s operations, and/or intimate knowledge of the contents of the
Recommendation Statement filed with the SEC, they had the power to influence and control, and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision-making of
Resonant with respect to the Recommendation Statement, including the content and dissemination of the various statements in the Recommendation Statement that Plaintiff
contends are materially false and misleading, and the omission of material facts specified above.
 

79.          Each of the Individual Defendants was provided with or had unlimited access to copies of the Recommendation Statement and other statements alleged by
Plaintiff to be misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements were issued and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the statements to be
corrected.
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80.Each of the Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in the day-to-day operations of Resonant, and, therefore, is presumed to have had

the power to control or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations alleged herein, and exercised same. In particular, the Recommendation
Statement at issue references the unanimous recommendation of the Board to approve the Proposed Transactions, including the Tender Offer and the Merger, and recommend
that Resonant stockholders tender their shares pursuant to the Tender Offer. The Individual Defendants thus were directly involved in the preparation of the Recommendation
Statement.
 

81.          In addition, as the Recommendation Statement sets forth at length, and as described herein, the Individual Defendants were involved in negotiating, reviewing,
and approving the Proposed Transactions, including the Tender Offer and the Merger. The Recommendation Statement purports to describe the various issues and information
that the Individual Defendants reviewed and considered in connection with such negotiation, review and approval. The Individual Defendants thus directly participated in the
drafting of the Recommendation Statement.
 

82.          By virtue of the foregoing, the Individual Defendants have violated Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.
 

83.As set forth above, the Individual Defendants had the ability to exercise control over and did control a person or persons who have each violated Section 14(e),
by their acts and omissions as alleged herein. By virtue of their positions as controlling persons, the Individual defendants are liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange
Act. As a direct and proximate result of Individual Defendants’ conduct, Plaintiff will be irreparably harmed.
 

84.Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law. Only through the exercise of this Court’s equitable powers can Plaintiff be fully protected from the immediate and
irreparable injury that Defendants’ actions threaten to inflict, and can Plaintiff and other Resonant stockholders make an informed decision about whether to tender their shares
pursuant to the Tender Offer.
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PRAYER FOR RELIEF

 
WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment and relief as follows:

 
A.          Preliminarily and permanently enjoining Defendants and their counsel, employees and all other agents and persons acting in concert with them from proceeding

with, consummating, or closing the Proposed Transactions, including the Tender Offer and the Merger, unless and until Defendants disclose and disseminate to Resonant
stockholders the material information specified above that has been omitted from the Recommendation Statement, and correct any false and misleading statements in the
Recommendation Statement;
 

B.          Rescinding, to the extent already implemented, the Merger Agreement or any of the transactions contemplated thereby, or granting Plaintiff rescissory damages.
 

C.          Directing Defendant to account to Plaintiff for all damages suffered as a result of their misconduct.
 

D.          Awarding Plaintiff the costs and disbursements of this action, including reasonable attorneys’ fees and expenses; and
 

E.           Granting such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.
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JURY DEMAND

 
Plaintiff demands a trial by jury on all claims and issues so triable.

 
Dated: March 6, 2022 WOHL & FRUCHTER LLP
  
  
 By: /s Joshua E. Fruchter
 Joshua E. Fruchter (JF2970)
 25 Robert Pitt Drive, Suite 209G
 Monsey, NY 10952
 Tel: (845) 290-6818
 Fax: (718) 504-3773
 Email: jfruchter@wohlfruchter.com
  
 Attorneys for Plaintiff
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Exhibit (a)(5)(F)

 
Daniel Sadeh, Esq.
HALPER SADEH LLP
667 Madison Avenue, 5th Floor
New York, NY 10065
Telephone: (212) 763-0060
Facsimile: (646) 776-2600
Email: sadeh@halpersadeh.com
 
Counsel for Plaintiff
 

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

 
THOMAS VALENTI,  Case No:
   

Plaintiff,   
  JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

v.   
   
RESONANT INC., GEORGE B.   
HOLMES, MICHAEL FOX, RUBÉN   
CABALLERO, ALAN B. HOWE, JACK   
H. JACOBS, JOSH JACOBS, JEAN   
RANKIN, and BOB TIRVA,   
   

Defendants.   
   

 
COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATIONS OF THE FEDERAL SECURITIES LAWS

 
Plaintiff Thomas Valenti (“Plaintiff”), by Plaintiff’s undersigned attorneys, for Plaintiff’s complaint against Defendants (defined below), alleges the following based

upon personal knowledge as to Plaintiff and Plaintiff’s own acts, and upon information and belief as to all other matters, based upon, inter alia, the investigation conducted by
and through Plaintiff’s attorneys.
 

NATURE OF THE ACTION
 

1 .            This is an action against Resonant Inc. (“Resonant” or the “Company”) and its Board of Directors (the “Board” or the “Individual Defendants”) for their
violations of Sections 14(e), 14(d)(4), and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”), 15 U.S.C. §§ 78n(e), 78n(d)(4), and 78t(a), and Rule 14d-9
promulgated thereunder by the SEC, 17 C.F.R. § 240.14d-9, in connection with the proposed acquisition (the “Proposed Transaction”) of Resonant by Murata Electronics North
America, Inc. (“Murata”).
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JURISDICTION AND VENUE

 
2.            The claims asserted herein arise under and pursuant to Sections 14(e), 14(d)(4), and 20(a) of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. §§ 78n(e), 78n(d)(4), and 78t(a))

and Rule 14d-9 promulgated thereunder by the SEC (17 C.F.R. § 240.14d-9).
 

3.            This Court has jurisdiction over the subject matter of this action pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1331, and Section 27 of the Exchange Act, 15 U.S.C. § 78aa.
 

4.            Venue is proper in this District pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1391(b) and Section 27 of the Exchange Act (15 U.S.C. § 78aa(c)) as a substantial portion of the
transactions and wrongs complained of herein had an effect in this District, the alleged misstatements entered and the subsequent damages occurred in this District, and the
Company conducts business in New York City.
 

5.            In connection with the acts, conduct and other wrongs alleged in this complaint, Defendants, directly or indirectly, used the means and instrumentalities of
interstate commerce, including but not limited to, the United States mails, interstate telephone communications and the facilities of the national securities exchange.
 

PARTIES
 

6.            Plaintiff is, and has been at all relevant times hereto, an owner of Resonant common stock.
 

7 .            Defendant Resonant is a late-stage development company that designs and develops filters for radio frequency and front-ends used in the mobile device,
automotive, medical, internet-of-things, and related industries in Japan, China, and internationally. The Company is incorporated in Delaware. The Company’s common stock
trades on the NASDAQ under the ticker symbol, “RESN.”
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8. Defendant George B. Holmes (“Holmes”) is Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of the Company.

 
9. Defendant Michael Fox (“Fox”) is a director of the Company.

 
10. Defendant Rubén Caballero (“Caballero”) is a director of the Company.

 
11. Defendant Alan B. Howe (“Howe”) is a director of the Company.



 
12. Defendant Jack H. Jacobs (“Ja. Jacobs”) is a director of the Company.

 
13. Defendant Josh Jacobs (“Jo. Jacobs”) is a director of the Company.

 
14. Defendant Jean Rankin (“Rankin”) is a director of the Company.

 
15. Defendant Bob Tirva (“Tirva”) is a director of the Company.

 
16.           Defendants Holmes, Fox, Caballero, Howe, Ja. Jacobs, Jo. Jacobs, Rankin, and Tirva are collectively referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.”

 
17.           Defendants Resonant and the Individual Defendants are collectively referred to herein as the “Defendants.”

 
SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

 
A. The Proposed Transaction

 
18.          On February 14, 2022, Resonant and Murata announced that they had entered into a definitive agreement under which Murata would acquire all outstanding

shares of Resonant not owned by Murata for $4.50 per share in cash. The press release announcing the Proposed Transaction states, in pertinent part:
 

Murata to acquire Resonant for $4.50 per share in cash
 

Acquisition enhances Murata’s position as a leading global provider of RF system solutions and filter products
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February 14, 2022 17:05 ET | Source: Resonant Inc.

 
KYOTO and AUSTIN, Texas, Feb. 14, 2022 (GLOBE NEWSWIRE) -- Murata Electronics North America, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata Manufacturing
Co., Ltd., and Resonant Inc. (Resonant) (NASDAQ: RESN) today announced that they have entered into a definitive agreement under which Murata will acquire all
outstanding shares of Resonant not owned by Murata for $4.50 per share in cash. Resonant is a leader in transforming the way radio frequency (RF) front-ends are being
designed and delivered for mobile handset and wireless devices. The combination will allow both companies to expand their offerings and to access additional markets
and customers. Resonant will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata and continue with its innovative development designed to solve some of the world’s
toughest RF challenges.

 
* * *

 
The transaction, which has been approved by both companies’ boards of directors, is expected to close by the end of March 2022, subject to the tender of a majority of
Resonant’s shares, certain regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions.

 
Centerview Partners LLC served as lead financial advisor to Resonant. Stifel also served as financial advisor to Resonant. Stubbs Alderton & Markiles, LLP and
Proskauer Rose LLP served as legal advisors to Resonant.
 
Mizuho Securities Co., Ltd. served as exclusive financial advisor to Murata. Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, Covington & Burling LLP and Akin Gump Strauss Hauer &
Feld LLP served as legal advisors to Murata.

 
19. On February 28, 2022, Defendants caused to be filed with the SEC a Schedule 14D-9 Solicitation/Recommendation Statement under Section 14(d)(4) of the

Exchange Act (the “Solicitation Statement”) in connection with the Proposed Transaction.
 

B. The Solicitation Statement Contains Materially False and Misleading Statements and Omissions
 

20.           The Solicitation Statement, which recommends that Resonant shareholders tender their shares in connection with the Proposed Transaction, omits and/or
misrepresents material information concerning: (i) Resonant’s financial projections; (ii) the financial analyses performed by the Company’s financial advisor, Centerview
Partners LLC (“Centerview”), in connection with its fairness opinion; (iii) potential conflicts of interest involving Resonant’s additional financial advisor, Stifel, Nicolaus &
Company, Incorporated (“Stifel”); and (iv) potential conflicts of interest involving Company insiders.
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21.            The omission of the material information (referenced below) renders the following sections of the Solicitation Statement false and misleading, among

others: (i) Recommendation of the Board; (ii) Reasons for Recommendation; (iii) Certain Financial Projections; and (iv) Opinion of Resonant’s Financial Advisor.
 

22.            The tender offer in connection with the Proposed Transaction is set to expire at one minute following 11:59 p.m., New York City time, on March 25, 2022
(the “Expiration Date”). It is imperative that the material information that was omitted from the Solicitation Statement be disclosed to the Company’s shareholders prior to the
Expiration Date to enable them to make an informed decision as to whether to tender their shares. Plaintiff may seek to enjoin Defendants from closing the tender offer or the
Proposed Transaction unless and until the material misstatements and omissions (referenced below) are remedied. In the event the Proposed Transaction is consummated,
Plaintiff may seek to recover damages resulting from Defendants’ misconduct.
 

1. Material Omissions Concerning Resonant’s Financial Projections
 

23.            The Solicitation Statement omits material information concerning Resonant’s financial projections.
 

24.            With respect to the Company’s financial projections, the Solicitation Statement fails to disclose: (1) all line items underlying each set of the Company’s
financial projections; (2) the Company’s net income projections; and (3) a reconciliation of all non-GAAP to GAAP metrics.
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25.            The disclosure of this information is material because it would provide the Company’s shareholders with a basis to project the future financial performance

of the Company and would allow shareholders to better understand the financial analyses performed by the Company’s financial advisor in support of its fairness opinion.
Shareholders cannot hope to replicate management’s inside view of the future prospects of the Company. Without such information, which is uniquely possessed by
Defendant(s) and the Company’s financial advisor, the Company’s shareholders are unable to determine how much weight, if any, to place on the Company’s financial
advisor’s fairness opinion in determining whether to tender their shares in connection Proposed Transaction.
 

26.            When a company discloses non-GAAP financial metrics in a Solicitation Statement that were relied upon by its board of directors in recommending that
shareholders exercise their corporate suffrage rights in a particular manner, the company must also disclose, pursuant to SEC Regulation G, all projections and information
necessary to make the non-GAAP metrics not misleading, and must provide a reconciliation (by schedule or other clearly understandable method) of the differences between

the non-GAAP financial metrics disclosed or released with the most comparable financial metrics calculated and presented in accordance with GAAP. 17 C.F.R. § 244.100. 1
 

27.            The above-referenced omitted information, if disclosed, would significantly alter the total mix of information available to the Company’s shareholders.
 
 
1 Mary Jo White, Keynote Address, International Corporate Governance Network Annual Conference: Focusing the Lens of Disclosure to Set the Path Forward on Board
Diversity, Non-GAAP, and Sustainability (June 27, 2016), https://www.sec.gov/news/speech/chair-white-icgn-speech.html (footnotes omitted) (last visited Mar. 7, 2022) (“And
last month, the staff issued guidance addressing a number of troublesome practices which can make non-GAAP disclosures misleading: the lack of equal or greater prominence
for GAAP measures; exclusion of normal, recurring cash operating expenses; individually tailored non-GAAP revenues; lack of consistency; cherry-picking; and the use of cash
per share data. I strongly urge companies to carefully consider this guidance and revisit their approach to non-GAAP disclosures.”).
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2. Material Omissions Concerning Centerview’s Analyses

 
28.            In connection with the Proposed Transaction, the Solicitation Statement omits material information concerning analyses performed by Centerview.

 
29.            The Solicitation Statement fails to disclose the following concerning Centerview’s “Discounted Cash Flow Analysis”: (1) the individual inputs and

assumptions underlying the (i) discount rates ranging from 14.50% to 16.00%, and (ii) perpetuity growth rates ranging from 2.0% to 3.0%; (2) the terminal values of the
Company; (3) the tax savings from usage of the Company’s federal net operating losses as of December 31, 2021 and the Company’s estimated future losses; and (4) the
Company’s fully diluted outstanding shares as of February 11, 2022.
 

30.            With respect to Centerview’s “Analyst Price Target Analysis,” the Solicitation Statement fails to disclose: (1) the individual price targets observed by
Centerview in its analysis; and (2) the sources thereof.
 

31.            With respect to Centerview’s “Premiums Paid Analysis,” the Solicitation Statement fails to disclose each transaction and the individual premiums paid
therein.
 

32.            The valuation methods, underlying assumptions, and key inputs used by Centerview in rendering its purported fairness opinion must be fairly disclosed to
the Company’s shareholders. The description of Centerview’s fairness opinion and analyses, however, fails to include key inputs and assumptions underlying those analyses.
 

3 3 .            Without the information described above, the Company’s shareholders are unable to fully understand Centerview’s fairness opinion and analyses, and are
thus unable to determine how much weight, if any, to place on them in determining whether to tender their shares in connection with the Proposed Transaction. This omitted
information, if disclosed, would significantly alter the total mix of information available to the Company’s shareholders.
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3. Material Omissions Concerning Potential Conflicts of Interest Involving Stifel

 
34.            The Solicitation Statement omits material information concerning potential conflicts of interest involving Stifel.

 
35.            The Solicitation Statement fails to disclose the timing and nature of the past services Stifel and/or its affiliates provided Resonant, Murata, and/or their

affiliates, including the amount of compensation Stifel received or expects to receive for providing each service within the past two years.
 

36.            Disclosure of a financial advisor’s compensation and potential conflicts of interest to shareholders is required due to their central role in the evaluation,
exploration, selection, and implementation of strategic alternatives. Disclosure of a financial advisor’s potential conflicts of interest may inform shareholders on how much
weight to place on the advisor’s work.
 

37.            The omission of the above-referenced information renders the Solicitation Statement materially incomplete and misleading. This information, if disclosed,
would significantly alter the total mix of information available to the Company’s shareholders.
 

4. Material Omissions Concerning Company Insiders’ Potential Conflicts of Interest
 

38.            The Solicitation Statement omits material information concerning potential conflicts of interest involving Company insiders.
 

39.            The Solicitation Statement fails to disclose the details of all employment-related and compensation-related discussions and negotiations concerning the
Company’s officers and directors, including the parties to such communications, when they occurred, and the specific content discussed/communicated.
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40.            Any communications regarding post-transaction employment during the negotiation of the underlying transaction must be disclosed to shareholders. This

information is necessary for shareholders to understand potential conflicts of interest of management and the Board. Such information may illuminate the motivations that



would prevent fiduciaries from acting solely in the best interests of the Company’s shareholders.
 

41.            The above-referenced omitted information, if disclosed, would significantly alter the total mix of information available to the Company’s shareholders.
 

COUNT I
For Violations of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act

Against All Defendants
 

42.            Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.
 

43. Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act states, in relevant part:
 

It shall be unlawful for any person to make any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements made, in
the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading . . . in connection with any tender offer or request or invitation for tenders[.]

 
44.            During the relevant period, Defendants, individually and in concert, directly or indirectly, disseminated or approved the false and misleading Solicitation

Statement specified above, which failed to disclose material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading, in violation of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act.
 

45.            Each of the Individual Defendants, by virtue of their positions within the Company as officers and/or directors, were aware of materially false and/or
misleading and/or omitted information but failed to disclose such information, in violation of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act. Defendants, by use of the mails and means and
instrumentalities of interstate commerce, solicited and/or permitted the use of their names to file and disseminate the Solicitation Statement with respect to the Proposed
Transaction.
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46.            The false and misleading statements and omissions in the Solicitation Statement are material in that a reasonable shareholder would consider them important

in deciding whether to tender their shares in connection with the Proposed Transaction.
 

47.            Defendants acted knowingly or with deliberate recklessness in filing or causing the filing of the materially false and misleading Solicitation Statement.
 

48.            By reason of the foregoing, Defendants violated Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act.
 

49.            Because of the false and misleading statements in the Solicitation Statement, Plaintiff is threatened with irreparable harm.
 

COUNT II
For Violations of Section 14(d)(4) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14d-9 Promulgated

Thereunder
Against All Defendants

 
50.            Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

 
51.            Defendants caused the Solicitation Statement to be issued with the intent to solicit shareholder support for the Proposed Transaction.

 
52.            Section 14(d)(4) of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 14d-9 promulgated thereunder require full and complete disclosure in connection with tender offers.

Specifically, Section 14(d)(4) states, in relevant part:
 

Any solicitation or recommendation to the holders of such a security to accept or reject a tender offer or request or invitation for tenders shall be made in accordance
with such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors.

 
53.            SEC Rule 14d-9(d), adopted to implement Section 14(d)(4) of the

 
Exchange Act, states, in relevant part:
 

Any solicitation or recommendation to holders of a class of securities referred to in section 14(d)(1) of the Act with respect to a tender offer for such securities shall
include the name of the person making such solicitation or recommendation and the information required by Items 1 through 8 of Schedule 14D-9 (§ 240.14d-101) or a
fair and adequate summary thereof[.]
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54.            In accordance with SEC Rule 14d-9, Item 8 of Schedule 14D-9 requires that a company:

 
Furnish such additional material information, if any, as may be necessary to make the required statements, in light of the circumstances under which they are made, not
materially misleading.

 
55.            During the relevant period, Defendants, individually and in concert, directly or indirectly, disseminated or approved the false and misleading Solicitation

Statement specified above, which failed to disclose material facts necessary in order to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under which they were made,
not misleading, in violation of Section 14(d)(4) of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 14d-9.
 

56.            Each of the Individual Defendants, by virtue of their positions within the Company as officers and/or directors, were aware of materially false and/or
misleading and/or omitted information but failed to disclose such information, in violation of Section 14(d)(4) of the Exchange Act and SEC Rule 14d-9. Defendants, by use of
the mails and means and instrumentalities of interstate commerce, solicited and/or permitted the use of their names to file and disseminate the Solicitation Statement with
respect to the Proposed Transaction.
 

57.            Defendants acted knowingly or with deliberate recklessness in filing the materially false and misleading Solicitation Statement which omitted material
information.
 



58.            The false and misleading statements and omissions in the Solicitation Statement are material in that a reasonable shareholder would consider them important
in deciding whether to tender their shares in connection with the Proposed Transaction.
 

11 

 

 
COUNT III

Violations of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act
Against the Individual Defendants

 
59.            Plaintiff repeats and re-alleges each and every allegation contained in the foregoing paragraphs as if fully set forth herein.

 
60.            The Individual Defendants acted as control persons of the Company within the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged herein. By virtue of

their senior positions as officers and/or directors of the Company and participation in and/or awareness of the Company’s operations and/or intimate knowledge of the false
statements contained in the Solicitation Statement filed with the SEC, they had the power to and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision-making of the
Company, including the content and dissemination of the false and misleading Solicitation Statement.
 

61.            Each of the Individual Defendants was provided with or had unlimited access to copies of the Solicitation Statement and other statements alleged by Plaintiff
to be misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements were issued and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause the statements to be corrected. As
officers and/or directors of a publicly owned company, the Individual Defendants had a duty to disseminate accurate and truthful information with respect to the Solicitation
Statement, and to correct promptly any public statements issued by the Company which were or had become materially false or misleading.
 

62.            In particular, each of the Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in the operations of the Company, and, therefore, is presumed to
have had the power to control or influence the particular transactions giving rise to the securities violations as alleged herein, and exercised the same. The Individual Defendants
were provided with or had unlimited access to copies of the Solicitation Statement and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or to cause the statements to be
corrected. The Solicitation Statement at issue contains the recommendation of the Individual Defendants to tender their shares pursuant to the Proposed Transaction. Thus, the
Individual Defendants were directly involved in the making of the Solicitation Statement.
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63.            In addition, as the Solicitation Statement sets forth at length, and as described herein, the Individual Defendants were involved in negotiating, reviewing, and

approving the Proposed Transaction. The Solicitation Statement purports to describe the various issues and information that they reviewed and considered—descriptions which
had input from the Individual Defendants.
 

64.            By virtue of the foregoing, the Individual Defendants have violated Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.
 

65.            As set forth above, the Individual Defendants had the ability to exercise control over and did control a person or persons who have each violated Sections
14(e), 14(d)(4), and Rule 14d-9 promulgated thereunder, by their acts and omissions as alleged herein. By virtue of their positions as controlling persons, the Individual
Defendants are liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act. As a direct and proximate result of Defendants’ conduct, the Company’s shareholders will be irreparably
harmed.
 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
 

WHEREFORE, Plaintiff prays for judgment and relief as follows:
 

A.            Preliminarily and permanently enjoining Defendants and all persons acting in concert with them from proceeding with, consummating, or closing the
Proposed Transaction and the tender offer in connection with the Proposed Transaction, unless and until Defendants disclose and disseminate the material information identified
above to the Company’s shareholders;
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B.            In the event Defendants consummate the Proposed Transaction, rescinding it and setting it aside or awarding Plaintiff rescissory damages;

 
C.            Declaring that Defendants violated Sections 14(e), 14(d)(4), and 20(a) of the Exchange Act, and Rule 14d-9 promulgated thereunder;

 
D.            Awarding Plaintiff reasonable costs and expenses incurred in this action, including counsel fees and expenses and expert fees; and

 
E.            Granting such other and further relief as the Court may deem just and proper.

 
JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

 
Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.

 
Dated: March 7, 2022 Respectfully submitted,
  
 HALPER SADEH LLP

 
By: /s/ Daniel Sadeh

 Daniel Sadeh, Esq.
 Zachary Halper, Esq. (to be admitted pro hac vice)
 667 Madison Avenue, 5th Floor
 New York, NY 10065
 Telephone: (212) 763-0060
 Facsimile: (646) 776-2600



Email: sadeh@halpersadeh.com

  zhalper@halpersadeh.com
 
 Counsel for Plaintiff
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Exhibit (a)(5)(G)

 
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 

FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF PENNSYLVANIA
 

BENNY RUFF, :  
 : Case No.  

Plaintiff, :  
 : JURY TRIAL DEMANDED

v. :  
 : COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF THE
RESONANT INC., GEORGE B. HOLMES, : SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
MICHAEL FOX, RUBÉN CABALLERO, :  
ALAN B. HOWE, JACK H. JACOBS, JOSH :  
JACOBS, JEAN RANKIN, and BOB TIRVA, :  
 :  

Defendants. :  
 

Plaintiff, by his attorneys, for this complaint against defendants, alleges the following upon personal knowledge with respect to himself, and upon
information and belief based upon the investigation of counsel as to all other allegations herein:

 
NATURE OF ACTION

 
1.            On February 14, 2022, Resonant Inc. (“Resonant” or the “Company”) entered into an agreement and plan of merger (the “Merger

Agreement”) with Murata Electronics North America, Inc. (“Parent”) and PJ Cosmos Acquisition Company, Inc. (“Merger Sub”) (the “Proposed Merger”).
 

2.            Under the terms of the Merger Agreement, Merger Sub commenced a tender offer (the “Tender Offer”) to purchase Resonant’s outstanding
common stock for 4.50 in cash per share. The Tender Offer is set to expire on March 26, 2022.

 
3.            On February 28, 2022, defendants filed a recommendation statement (the “Recommendation Statement”) with the U.S. Securities and

Exchange Commission (the “SEC”).
 

 
 

 

 
4.           As alleged herein, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose material information regarding the Proposed Merger, and defendants

violated Sections 14(e), 14(d), and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “Exchange Act”).
 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
 

5.            This Court has jurisdiction over the claims asserted herein pursuant to Section 27 of the Exchange Act because the claims asserted herein
arise under Sections 14(e), 14(d), and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14a-9.

 
6.            This Court has jurisdiction over defendants because each defendant is either a corporation that conducts business in and maintains operations

within this District, or is an individual with sufficient minimum contacts with this District so as to make the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court permissible
under traditional notions of fair play and substantial justice.

 
7.            Venue is proper under 15 U.S.C. § 78aa because the Recommendation Statement, which plaintiff alleges to be materially false and

misleading, was transmitted by defendants into this District, including to plaintiff. See, e.g., Wojtunik v. Kealy, 2003 WL 22006240, at *5-6 (E.D. Pa. Aug. 26,
2003).

 
THE PARTIES

 
8.            Plaintiff is and has been continuously throughout all relevant times the owner of Resonant common stock.

 
9.           Defendant Resonant is a Delaware corporation. Resonant’s common stock is traded on the NASDAQ under the ticker symbol “RESN.”

 
10.         Defendant George B. Holmes is Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of Directors of Resonant (the “Board”).

 
11.         Defendant Michael Fox is a member of the Board.
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12.            Defendant Rubén Caballero is a member of the Board.

 
13.            Defendant Alan B. Howe is a member of the Board.

 
14.            Defendant Jack H. Jacobs is a member of the Board.

 
15.            Defendant Josh Jacobs is a member of the Board.

 
16.            Defendant Jean Rankin is a member of the Board.

 



17.            Defendant Bob Tirva is a member of the Board.
 

18.            Defendants identified in ¶¶ 10-17 are referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.”
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SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS

 
19.            Resonant develops software, intellectual property, and a services platform to increase designer efficacy, reduce time to market, and lower

unit costs in the design of filters for radio frequency front ends for the mobile device industry.
 

20.           On February 14, 2022, Resonant entered into the Merger Agreement.
 

21.           The press release announcing the Proposed Merger provides as follows:
 

Murata Electronics North America, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata Manufacturing Co., Ltd., and Resonant Inc. (Resonant) (NASDAQ:
RESN) today announced that they have entered into a definitive agreement under which Murata will acquire all outstanding shares of Resonant not
owned by Murata for $4.50 per share in cash. Resonant is a leader in transforming the way radio frequency (RF) front-ends are being designed and
delivered for mobile handset and wireless devices. The combination will allow both companies to expand their offerings and to access additional
markets and customers. Resonant will become a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata and continue with its innovative development designed to solve
some of the world’s toughest RF challenges.

 
“This acquisition will combine Murata’s world-leading mobile RF product capabilities with Resonant’s best-in-class XBAR filter solutions and world-
class team of talented engineers,” said Norio Nakajima, President of Murata. “Resonant invented its proprietary XBAR technology, which is expected
to achieve higher frequency and superior performance to other filter technologies. We have collaborated closely with Resonant for many years on the
development of proprietary circuit designs using Resonant’s XBAR technology, and Resonant licensed to Murata rights for products in multiple
specific radio frequencies in connection with our commercial partnership. We are confident Resonant’s innovation is a key strategic differentiator for
the mobile industry. This transaction will deepen our existing partnership and position us to better meet our customers’ needs and expand
opportunities for Murata.”

 
“Murata is a global leader in RF modules and filters, and we are excited to build upon the successful partnership we’ve had together. The combination
of Murata’s leading products with Resonant’s leading edge XBAR filter technologies will advance our combined ability to deliver best-in-class
products to the RF front-end market,” said George B. Holmes, Chairman and CEO of Resonant. “As part of the Murata team, we are looking forward
to accelerating the integration of our XBAR technology into the Murata RF roadmap and delivering solutions with optimum RF performance. We have
tremendous respect for Murata and look forward to accomplishing great things together.”

 
“We believe this acquisition will enhance Murata’s advanced RF front-end capabilities and the world’s best filtering technology in the 3~9GHz
frequency range, key areas for the growing integration of mobile technologies. The radio requirements of smartphones and other wireless devices
continue to grow more complex. XBAR filter technology delivers the ability to solve the complexities created by these next generation network
requirements. Murata and Resonant will provide a strong portfolio of Intellectual Property Rights covering the entire XBAR technology,” concluded
Nakajima.

 
The transaction, which has been approved by both companies’ boards of directors, is expected to close by the end of March 2022, subject to the tender
of a majority of Resonant’s shares, certain regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions.

 
Centerview Partners LLC served as lead financial advisor to Resonant. Stifel also served as financial advisor to Resonant. Stubbs Alderton &
Markiles, LLP and Proskauer Rose LLP served as legal advisors to Resonant.

 
Mizuho Securities Co., Ltd. served as exclusive financial advisor to Murata. Gibson, Dunn & Crutcher LLP, Covington & Burling LLP and Akin
Gump Strauss Hauer & Feld LLP served as legal advisors to Murata.

 
22.            On January 25, 2022, defendants filed the Recommendation Statement, which fails to disclose material information regarding the Proposed

Merger.
 

Financial Projections
 

23.            The Recommendation Statement fails to disclose material information regarding Resonant’s financial projections, specifically the line items
underlying the projections.
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Financial Analyses

 
24.            The Recommendation Statement fails to disclose material information regarding the financial analyses conducted by Centerview Partners

LLC (“Centerview”).
 

25.            Regarding Centerview’s Discounted Cash Flow Analysis, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose: (i) the terminal values utilized
by Centerview; (ii) the inputs and assumptions underlying the discount rates and perpetuity growth rates utilized by Centerview; (iii) the net operating losses
and estimated future losses utilized by Centerview; and (iv) the fully diluted shares outstanding utilized by Centerview.

 
26.            Regarding Centerview’s Analyst Price Target Analysis, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose: (i) the price targets utilized by

Centerview; and (ii) the sources of the price targets utilized by Centerview.
 

27.            Regarding Centerview’s Premiums Paid Analysis, the Recommendation Statement fails to disclose: (i) the transactions utilized by
Centerview; and (ii) the premia paid in the transactions utilized by Centerview.

 
Banker Engagement



It shall be unlawful for any person to make any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the
statements made, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading . . . in connection with any tender offer or request or
invitation for tenders[.]

Any solicitation or recommendation to the holders of such a security to accept or reject a tender offer or request or invitation for tenders shall be made
in accordance with such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection
of investors.

Any solicitation or recommendation to holders of a class of securities referred to in section 14(d)(1) of the Act with respect to a tender offer for such
securities shall include the name of the person making such solicitation or recommendation and the information required by Items 1 through 8 of
Schedule 14D-9 (§ 240.14d-101) or a fair and adequate summary thereof[.]

 
28.          The Recommendation Statement fails to disclose the timing and details of the prior services Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Inc. conducted for

the parties to the Merger Agreement, as well as the fees received in connection therewith.
 

COUNT I
 

Claim Against Defendants for Violation of Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act
 

29.            Plaintiff repeats and realleges the above-referenced allegations as if fully set forth herein.
 

30.            Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act states:
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31.            Defendants disseminated the misleading Recommendation Statement, which contained statements that, in violation of Section 14(e) of the

Exchange Act, in light of the circumstances under which they were made, failed to state material facts necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
 

32.            The Recommendation Statement was prepared, reviewed, and/or disseminated by defendants.
 

33.            The Recommendation Statement misrepresented and/or omitted material facts in connection with the Proposed Transaction as set forth
above.

 
34.            By virtue of their positions within the Company and/or roles in the process and the preparation of the Recommendation Statement,

defendants were aware of this information and their duty to disclose this information in the Recommendation Statement.
 

35.            The omissions in the Recommendation Statement are material in that a reasonable shareholder will consider them important in deciding
whether to tender their shares.

 
36.            A reasonable investor will view a full and accurate disclosure as significantly altering the total mix of information made available.

 
37.           Defendants knowingly or with deliberate recklessness omitted the material information identified above in the Recommendation Statement,

causing statements therein to be materially incomplete and misleading.
 

38.            Accordingly, defendants violated Section 14(e) of the Exchange Act.
 

39.            Plaintiff is threatened with irreparable harm and has no adequate remedy at law.
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COUNT II

 
Claim Against Defendants for Violation of 14(d) of the Exchange Act

 
40.            Plaintiff repeats and realleges the above-referenced allegations as if fully set forth herein.

 
41.            Section 14(d)(4) of the Exchange Act states:

 

 
42.            Rule 14d-9(d) states:

 

 
43.            Item 8 requires that directors must “furnish such additional information, if any, as may be necessary to make the required statements, in

light of the circumstances under which they are made, not materially misleading.”
 
44.            The Recommendation Statement violates Section 14(d)(4) and Rule 14d-9 because it omits the material facts set forth above, which renders

the Recommendation Statement false and/or misleading.
 

45.            Defendants knowingly or with deliberate recklessness omitted the material information set forth above, causing statements therein to be
materially incomplete and misleading.

 
46.            The omissions in the Recommendation Statement are material to plaintiff, and he will be deprived of his entitlement to make a fully

informed decision with respect to the Proposed Transaction if such misrepresentations and omissions are not corrected prior to the expiration of the Tender
Offer.
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47.            Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law.

 
COUNT III

 
Claim Against the Individual Defendants for Violation of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act

 
48.            Plaintiff repeats and realleges the above-referenced allegations as if fully set forth herein.

 
49.            The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of Resonant within the meaning of Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act as alleged

herein.
 

50.            Due to their positions as directors of Resonant and participation in and/or awareness of the Company’s operations and/or intimate
knowledge of the false statements contained in the Recommendation Statement filed with the SEC, they had the power to influence and control and did
influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision making of the Company, including the content and dissemination of the various statements that
plaintiff contends are false and misleading.

 
51.            Each of the Individual Defendants was provided with or had unlimited access to copies of the Recommendation Statement alleged by

plaintiff to be misleading prior to and/or shortly after these statements were issued and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause them to
be corrected.

 
52.            Each of the Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in the day-to-day operations of the Company, and, thus, is

presumed to have had the power to control and influence the particular transactions giving rise to the violations as alleged herein, and exercised the same.
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53.            The Recommendation Statement contains the unanimous recommendation of the Individual Defendants to approve the Proposed

Transaction. They were thus directly connected with and involved in the making of the Recommendation Statement.
 

54.            Accordingly, the Individual Defendants violated Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.
 

55. The Individual Defendants had the ability to exercise control over and did control a person or persons who have each violated Section 14(e) of the
Exchange Act and Rule 14a-9, by their acts and omissions as alleged herein.

 
56.            Due to their positions as controlling persons, these defendants are liable pursuant to Section 20(a) of the Exchange Act.

 
57.            Plaintiff is threatened with irreparable harm and has no adequate remedy at law.

 
PRAYER FOR RELIEF

 
WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays for judgment and relief against defendants as follows:

 
A.            Enjoining defendants and all persons acting in concert with them from proceeding with, consummating, or closing the Proposed Transaction;

 
B.            In the event defendants consummate the Proposed Transaction, rescinding it and setting it aside or awarding rescissory damages;

 
C.            Directing the Individual Defendants to file a Recommendation Statement that does not contain any untrue statements of material fact and

that states all material facts required in it or necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading;
 

D.            Declaring that defendants violated Sections 14(e), 14(d), and 20(a) of the Exchange Act and Rule 14a-9;
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E.            Awarding plaintiff the costs of this action, including reasonable allowance for attorneys’ and experts’ fees; and

 
F.            Granting such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.

 
JURY DEMAND

 
Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.
 

Dated: March 7, 2022  GRABAR LAW OFFICE
   
  By: /s/ Joshua H. Grabar
   Joshua H. Grabar (#82525)
   One Liberty Place
   1650 Market Street, Suite 3600
   Philadelphia, PA 19103
   267-507-6085
   jgrabar@grabarlaw.com
    
   Counsel for Plaintiff
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Exhibit (a)(5)(H)

 
UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
EASTERN DISTRICT OF NEW YORK

 
JEFFREY D. JUSTICE, II, ) 
 ) 

Plaintiff, ) 
 ) Case No. ______________

v. ) 
 ) JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
RESONANT INC., GEORGE B. HOLMES, ) 
MICHAEL FOX, RUBÉN CABALLERO, ) 
ALAN B. HOWE, JACK H. JACOBS, JOSH ) 
JACOBS, JEAN RANKIN, and BOB TIRVA, ) 
 ) 

Defendants. ) 
 

COMPLAINT FOR VIOLATION OF THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934
 

Plaintiff, by his undersigned attorneys, for this complaint against defendants, alleges upon personal knowledge with respect to himself, and upon information and belief
based upon, inter alia, the investigation of counsel as to all other allegations herein, as follows:
 

NATURE OF THE ACTION
 

1.            This action stems from a proposed transaction announced on February 14, 2022 (the “Proposed Transaction”), pursuant to which Resonant Inc. (“Resonant” or
the “Company”) will be acquired by Murata Electronics North America, Inc. (“Parent”) and PJ Cosmos Acquisition Company, Inc. (“Purchaser”).
 

2.            On February 14, 2022, Resonant’s Board of Directors (the “Board” or “Individual Defendants”) caused the Company to enter into an agreement and plan of
merger (the “Merger Agreement”) with Parent and Purchaser. Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Purchaser commenced a tender offer (the “Tender Offer”) to
purchase all of Resonant’s outstanding common stock for $4.50 in cash per share. The Tender Offer is set to expire on March 26, 2022.
 

 

 

 
3.            On February 28, 2022, defendants filed a Solicitation/Recommendation Statement (the “Solicitation Statement”) with the United States Securities and

Exchange Commission (“SEC”) in connection with the Proposed Transaction.
 

4.            The Solicitation Statement omits material information with respect to the Proposed Transaction, which renders the Solicitation Statement false and misleading.
Accordingly, plaintiff alleges herein that defendants violated Sections 14(e), 14(d), and 20(a) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934 (the “1934 Act”) in connection with the
Solicitation Statement.
 

JURISDICTION AND VENUE
 

5.            This Court has jurisdiction over all claims asserted herein pursuant to Section 27 of the 1934 Act because the claims asserted herein arise under Sections 14(e),
14(d), and 20(a) of the 1934 Act and Rule 14a-9.
 

6.            This Court has jurisdiction over defendants because each defendant is either a corporation that conducts business in and maintains operations within this
District, or is an individual with sufficient minimum contacts with this District so as to make the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court permissible under traditional notions of
fair play and substantial justice.
 

7.            Venue is proper under 28 U.S.C. § 1391 because a portion of the transactions and wrongs complained of herein occurred in this District.
 

PARTIES
 

8.            Plaintiff is, and has been continuously throughout all times relevant hereto, the owner of Resonant common stock.
 

9.            Defendant Resonant is a Delaware corporation and maintains its principal executive offices at 10900 Stonelake Boulevard, Suite 100, Austin, TX 78759.
Resonant’s common stock trades on the NASDAQ under the ticker symbol “RESN.”
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 10. Defendant George B. Holmes is Chief Executive Officer and Chairman of the Board of the Company.
   

11. Defendant Michael Fox is a director of the Company.
 

12. Defendant Rubén Caballero is a director of the Company.
 

13. Defendant Alan B. Howe is a director of the Company.
 

14. Defendant Jack H. Jacobs is a director of the Company.
 

15. Defendant Josh Jacobs is a director of the Company.
 

16. Defendant Jean Rankin is a director of the Company.
 

17. Defendant Bob Tirva is a director of the Company.



   
 18. The defendants identified in paragraphs 10 through 17 are collectively referred to herein as the “Individual Defendants.”
 

SUBSTANTIVE ALLEGATIONS
 
Background of the Company and the Proposed Transaction
 

19.          Resonant develops software, intellectual property, and a services platform to increase designer efficacy, reduce time to market, and lower unit costs in the
design of filters for radio frequency front ends for the mobile device industry.
 

20.          On February 14, 2022, Resonant’s Board caused the Company to enter into the Merger Agreement.
 

21.Pursuant to the terms of the Merger Agreement, Purchaser commenced the Tender Offer to acquire all of Resonant’s outstanding common stock for $4.50 in
cash per share.
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22. According to the press release announcing the Proposed Transaction:

 
Murata Electronics North America, Inc., a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata Manufacturing Co., Ltd., and Resonant Inc. (Resonant) (NASDAQ: RESN)
today announced that they have entered into a definitive agreement under which Murata will acquire all outstanding shares of Resonant not owned by Murata
for $4.50 per share in cash. Resonant is a leader in transforming the way radio frequency (RF) front-ends are being designed and delivered for mobile handset
and wireless devices. The combination will allow both companies to expand their offerings and to access additional markets and customers. Resonant will
become a wholly owned subsidiary of Murata and continue with its innovative development designed to solve some of the world’s toughest RF challenges.
 
The transaction, which has been approved by both companies’ boards of directors, is expected to close by the end of March 2022, subject to the tender of a
majority of Resonant’s shares, certain regulatory approvals and other customary closing conditions.
 
Centerview Partners LLC served as lead financial advisor to Resonant. Stifel also served as financial advisor to Resonant. Stubbs Alderton & Markiles, LLP
and Proskauer Rose LLP served as legal advisors to Resonant.

 
The Solicitation Statement Omits Material Information, Rendering It False and Misleading
 

23.          Defendants filed the Solicitation Statement with the SEC in connection with the Proposed Transaction.
 

24.          As set forth below, the Solicitation Statement omits material information with respect to the Proposed Transaction, which renders the Solicitation Statement
false and misleading.
 

25.          First, the Solicitation Statement omits material information regarding the Company’s financial projections.
 

26.          The Solicitation Statement fails to disclose: (i) all line items used to calculate the projections; and (ii) a reconciliation of all non-GAAP to GAAP metrics.
 

27.          The disclosure of projected financial information is material because it provides stockholders with a basis to project the future financial performance of a
company, and allows stockholders to better understand the financial analyses performed by the company’s financial advisor in support of its fairness opinion.
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28. Second, the Solicitation Statement omits material information regarding the analyses performed by the Company’s financial advisor in connection with the

Proposed Transaction, Centerview Partners LLC (“Centerview”).
 

29.          With respect to Centerview’s Discounted Cash Flow Analysis, the Solicitation Statement fails to disclose: (i) the terminal values used in the analysis; (ii) the
individual inputs and assumptions underlying the discount rates and perpetuity growth rates; (iii) the net operating losses and estimated future losses used in the analysis; and
(iv) the fully diluted shares outstanding used in the analysis.
 

30.          With respect to Centerview’s Analyst Price Target Analysis, the Solicitation Statement fails to disclose: (i) the price targets used in the analysis; and (ii) the
sources thereof.
 

31.          With respect to Centerview’s Premiums Paid Analysis, the Solicitation Statement fails to disclose: (i) the transactions observed in the analysis; and (ii) the
premiums paid in the transactions.
 

32.          When a banker’s endorsement of the fairness of a transaction is touted to shareholders, the valuation methods used to arrive at that opinion as well as the key
inputs and range of ultimate values generated by those analyses must also be fairly disclosed.
 

33.          Third, the Solicitation Statement fails to disclose the timing and nature of the past services Stifel, Nicolaus & Company, Incorporated (“Stifel”) provided to the
parties to the Merger Agreement and their affiliates, and the amount of compensation received by Stifel for providing the services.
 

34.          The omission of the above-referenced material information renders the Solicitation Statement false and misleading.
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35.          The above-referenced omitted information, if disclosed, would significantly alter the total mix of information available to the Company’s stockholders.

 
COUNT I



 
(Claim for Violation of Section 14(e) of the 1934 Act Against Defendants)

 
36. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the preceding allegations as if fully set forth herein.

 
37. Section 14(e) of the 1934 Act states, in relevant part, that:

 
It shall be unlawful for any person to make any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state any material fact necessary in order to make the statements
made, in the light of the circumstances under which they are made, not misleading . . . in connection with any tender offer or request or invitation for tenders[.]

 
38.          Defendants disseminated the misleading Solicitation Statement, which contained statements that, in violation of Section 14(e) of the 1934 Act, in light of the

circumstances under which they were made, omitted to state material facts necessary to make the statements therein not misleading.
 

39. The Solicitation Statement was prepared, reviewed, and/or disseminated by defendants.
 

40.          The Solicitation Statement misrepresented and/or omitted material facts in connection with the Proposed Transaction as set forth above.
 

41.          By virtue of their positions within the Company and/or roles in the process and the preparation of the Solicitation Statement, defendants were aware of this
information and their duty to disclose this information in the Solicitation Statement.
 

42.          The omissions in the Solicitation Statement are material in that a reasonable shareholder will consider them important in deciding whether to tender their shares
in connection with the Proposed Transaction. In addition, a reasonable investor will view a full and accurate disclosure as significantly altering the total mix of information
made available.
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43.Defendants knowingly or with deliberate recklessness omitted the material information identified above in the Solicitation Statement, causing statements

therein to be materially incomplete and misleading.
 

44. By reason of the foregoing, defendants violated Section 14(e) of the 1934 Act.
 

45.          Because of the false and misleading statements in the Solicitation Statement, plaintiff is threatened with irreparable harm.
 

46. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law.
 

COUNT II
 

(Claim for Violation of 14(d) of the 1934 Act Against Defendants)
 

47. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the preceding allegations as if fully set forth herein.
 

48. Section 14(d)(4) of the 1934 Act states:
 

Any solicitation or recommendation to the holders of such a security to accept or reject a tender offer or request or invitation for tenders shall be made in
accordance with such rules and regulations as the Commission may prescribe as necessary or appropriate in the public interest or for the protection of investors.

 
49.          Rule 14d-9(d) states, in relevant part:

 
Any solicitation or recommendation to holders of a class of securities referred to in section 14(d)(1) of the Act with respect to a tender offer for such securities
shall include the name of the person making such solicitation or recommendation and the information required by Items 1 through 8 of Schedule 14D-9 (§
240.14d-101) or a fair and adequate summary thereof[.]

 
Item 8 requires that directors must “furnish such additional information, if any, as may be necessary to make the required statements, in light of the circumstances under which
they are made, not materially misleading.”
 

50.          The Solicitation Statement violates Section 14(d)(4) and Rule 14d-9 because it omits the material facts set forth above, which renders the Solicitation
Statement false and/or misleading.
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51.          Defendants knowingly or with deliberate recklessness omitted the material information set forth above, causing statements therein to be materially incomplete

and misleading.
 

52.          The omissions in the Solicitation Statement are material to plaintiff, and he will be deprived of his entitlement to make a fully informed decision with respect to
the Proposed Transaction if such misrepresentations and omissions are not corrected prior to the expiration of the Tender Offer.
 

53. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law.
 

COUNT III
 

(Claim for Violation of Section 20(a) of the 1934 Act Against the Individual Defendants)
 

54. Plaintiff repeats and realleges the preceding allegations as if fully set forth herein.
 

55.           The Individual Defendants acted as controlling persons of Resonant within the meaning of Section 20(a) of the 1934 Act as alleged herein. By virtue of their
positions as directors of Resonant and participation in and/or awareness of the Company’s operations and/or intimate knowledge of the false statements contained in the
Solicitation Statement filed with the SEC, they had the power to influence and control and did influence and control, directly or indirectly, the decision making of the Company,



including the content and dissemination of the various statements that plaintiff contends are false and misleading.
 

56.           Each of the Individual Defendants was provided with or had unlimited access to copies of the Solicitation Statement alleged by plaintiff to be misleading prior
to and/or shortly after these statements were issued and had the ability to prevent the issuance of the statements or cause them to be corrected.
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57.          Each of the Individual Defendants had direct and supervisory involvement in the day-to-day operations of the Company, and, therefore, is presumed to have

had the power to control and influence the particular transactions giving rise to the violations as alleged herein, and exercised the same. The Solicitation Statement contains the
unanimous recommendation of the Individual Defendants to approve the Proposed Transaction. They were thus directly connected with and involved in the making of the
Solicitation Statement.
 

58. By virtue of the foregoing, the Individual Defendants violated Section 20(a) of the 1934 Act.
 

59.          As set forth above, the Individual Defendants had the ability to exercise control over and did control a person or persons who have each violated
Section 14(e) of the 1934 Act and Rule 14a-9, by their acts and omissions as alleged herein. By virtue of their positions as controlling persons, these defendants are liable
pursuant to Section 20(a) of the 1934 Act.
 

60.          As a direct and proximate result of defendants’ conduct, plaintiff is threatened with irreparable harm.
 

61. Plaintiff has no adequate remedy at law.
 

PRAYER FOR RELIEF
 

WHEREFORE, plaintiff prays for judgment and relief as follows:
 

A.           Enjoining defendants and all persons acting in concert with them from proceeding with, consummating, or closing the Proposed Transaction;
 

B.           In the event defendants consummate the Proposed Transaction, rescinding it and setting it aside or awarding rescissory damages;
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C.           Directing the Individual Defendants to file a Solicitation Statement that does not contain any untrue statements of material fact and that states all material facts

required in it or necessary to make the statements contained therein not misleading;
 

D.           Declaring that defendants violated Sections 14(e), 14(d), and 20(a) of the 1934 Act, as well as Rule 14a-9 promulgated thereunder;
 

E.            Awarding plaintiff the costs of this action, including reasonable allowance for plaintiff’s attorneys’ and experts’ fees; and
 

F. Granting such other and further relief as this Court may deem just and proper.
 

JURY DEMAND
 

Plaintiff hereby demands a trial by jury.
 
Dated: March 11, 2022  RIGRODSKY LAW, P.A.
  
 By: /s/ Gina M. Serra
  Gina M. Serra
  825 East Gate Boulevard, Suite 300
  Garden City, NY 11530
  (516) 683-3516
  gms@rl-legal.com
   
  Attorneys for Plaintiff
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